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Based on “Around the World in Eighty Days” by Jules Verne
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Act I: Scene I: Mr. Phileas Fogg
(The doors at the back of the hall open and a smartly dressed person enters, closes the doors behind him, checks his clipboard and mutters to himself. One of the technical crew coughs and he looks up)

Guide:
Oh, have we started? (Coughs) Ladies and Gentlemen, Boys and Girls, welcome to this tour of the world. I am your guide for the duration and before I begin would like to make a few announcements. In the event of an emergency your exits are here (points to the front), here (points to the sides) and here (points behind him). At a suitable moment refreshments will be available there (points to the canteen) but would request that you hold all questions until the end of the tour. Thank you.

(Lights up on stage revealing a room dressed in Victorian finery)

Guide:
Allow me to introduce you to the drawing room of Mr. Phileas Fogg Esquire in Number 7 Savile Row, located in Burlington Gardens in the great city of London. Today is Wednesday, October 2nd in the year of our Lord 1872 and we are just about to leave the 35th year of the glorious reign of Queen Victoria, Empress of India and Defender of the Faith (He bows to the stage). Mr. Fogg has been up and doing since eight o’clock this morning having done his morning constitutionals, had a cup of coffee served at precisely 180°F with precisely one-quarter pint of milk and two extra drops for luck.

(Big Ben chimes the quarter hour and Mr. Fogg enters stage left carrying a newspaper and sits down on a chair as if expecting someone)

Guide:
And allow me to present Mr. Fogg himself. Mr. Fogg is one of the most noticeable members of the Reform Club of which we will see a bit more of later on although he seemed always to avoid attracting attention. He has been described as an enigmatical personage, about whom little was known, except that he was a polished man of the world. People have said that he resembled Byron, but it is my personal opinion at least that his head was Byronic and though he was a bearded and tranquil Byron who might live on a thousand years without growing old he is certainly an Englishman. Whether Mr. Fogg is a Londoner however is open to debate.

(Fogg suddenly stands up and starts tapping his feet)

Fogg:

This will never do! I can’t hire a person to be my butler who is not on time.

Guide:
As you can tell Mr. Fogg is waiting for a butler to replace his former manservant Mr. Forster who was sacked yesterday for delivering Mr. Fogg’s shaving water at 84°F, a full two degrees cooler than Mr. Fogg demands. Mr. Fogg is also a stickler for detail and I for one would not like to be the manservant who has to serve him.

(Outside the doors there is a shout of “My references!” in a French accent)

Guide:

And here is the unfortunate fellow now!

(There is a knock on the doors. Mr. Fogg nods to the Guide who opens the doors and brings the person in who is carrying a bag)

Guide:

(to Mr. Fogg) Presenting Monsieur Passepartout!

Fogg:

Finally!

(Passepartout makes his way to the stage humming “La Marseille”)

Guide:
Passepartout was a true Parisian of Paris.  Since he had abandoned his own country for England, taking service as a valet, he had in vain searched for a master after his own heart. Passepartout was by no means one of those pert dunces depicted by Moliere with a bold gaze and a nose held high in the air; he was an honest fellow, with a pleasant face, lips a trifle protruding, soft-mannered and serviceable, with a good round head, such as one likes to see on the shoulders of a friend.

(As Passepartout steps on the stage Mr. Fogg turns to face him)

Fogg:

You’re 240 seconds late!

(Passepartout drops the bag in shock and steps backwards)

Passepartout:
(taking off his hat and bowing) Forgive me, Monsieur. I didn’t mean to offend but my watch says…

Fogg:
Your references?

(Passepartout picks up the bag and hands a series of papers to Mr. Fogg, which he takes and then sits down on a chair and starts to read them)

Guide:
Passepartout had a rubicund complexion and despite the fact that he was almost portly, it was clear that he had a muscular physique with physical powers fully developed by the exercises of his younger days.  His brown hair was somewhat tumbled thanks to three strokes of a large-tooth comb.

Passepartout:
Is everything in order Monsieur?

Fogg:
(looking up) I must say you’ve led an interesting life. An itinerant singer, a circus-rider just like Leotard and Blondin, then a professor of gymnastics, and then a sergeant fireman in Paris.

Passepartout:
Indeed, monsieur. In fact, with your permission?

Fogg:
Go ahead.

(Passepartout turns around and a spotlight falls on him)

Passepartout:
Attention, s’il vous plait!

(The Guide takes a ball and throws it to him, then another ball and he juggles them. After a short time, Passepartout nods and the Guide throws him a third ball which he juggles and then does a small jump, catches all three balls in his hands and bows to the audience as the lights come up again)

Fogg:

(applauding) Very impressive indeed, but I’m looking for a butler not a performer!

Passepartout:
(standing to attention) Oui, monsieur! (He groans, puts the balls on a nearby table and starts to make his way down from the stage)

Fogg:
(standing up and approaching Passepartout). Forgive me for asking a silly question, but why do you want to become my butler?

Passepartout:
I left France five years ago wishing to taste the sweets of domestic life so took service as a valet here in England.  Finding myself out of place, and hearing that Monsieur Phileas Fogg was the most exact and settled gentleman in the United Kingdom I have come in the hope of living with him a tranquil life, and forgetting even the name of Passepartout.

Fogg:
Whatever for?

Passepartout:
Passepartout is a nickname, Monsieur that translates as “never stopping”. When I was with the circus I travelled constantly as did my last employer. Monsieur, do you travel constantly?

Fogg:
I lead a very quiet life indeed.

Passepartout:
Monsieur, working for you would be the answer to all my dreams.

Fogg:
(gets out a pocket watch) It is now twenty nine minutes past eleven (Passepartout gets out his pocket watch) on the second day in October in the year 1872 and I hereby announce that you are my new manservant.

Passepartout:
(cheerfully) Merci, Monsieur, but might I note that according to my watch it is only twenty five minutes past eleven.

Fogg:
(looks carefully at Passepartout’s watch) Ah, one of those Swiss ones eh?

Passepartout:
Oui, Monsieur, it is an extremely accurate timepiece and belonged to my grandfather.

(Big Ben chimes the half hour as Mr. Fogg steps down from the stage)

Fogg:
I believe that your watch is four minutes slow, Passepartout! When you get a moment I strongly suggest that you set it to Big Ben.

(Mr. Fogg picks up his hat and cane from a hat stand. He puts his hat on, nods to the Guide and walks towards the doors at the back of the hall singing “Rule Britannia!” with Passepartout looking on in amazement)

Passepartout:
And that is that I believe! (He looks around the drawing room and then holds his stomach). Quiet down, I’ll get to you in a moment. I want to see what my room is like.

(He exits stage left. As he does a spotlight appears on the Guide at the bottom of the stage)

Guide:
It now being half past eleven, Passepartout found himself alone in the house and began his inspection without delay scouring it from cellar to garret.  So clean and well arranged was the house that it seemed to him like a snail's shell. When Passepartout reached the second floor he recognised at once the room, which he was to inhabit and he was very pleased with it. Electric bells and speaking-tubes afforded communication with the lower floors while on the mantelpiece stood an electric clock, precisely like that in Mr. Fogg's bedchamber, both beating the same second at the same instant.

(The spotlight goes out and Passepartout enters stage left holding a card in his hand)

Passepartout:
Ah, my duties for the day. Monsieur Fogg wakes up at eight o’clock every morning. Twenty-three minutes later I am to serve him coffee or tea dependent on his mood, and toast two slices of bread making sure that they evenly sliced and toasted for exactly 175 seconds. At 9.37 I prepare his hot water for shaving to be precisely 86°F and then after that I set his hair. Whilst that is going on I get a start on pressing his shirt so that by half past eleven every morning he is presentable and able to leave for the Reform Club. He arrives back at half past ten in the evening and goes to bed at midnight, which means I have (counts his fingers) eleven hours every day to do any essential shopping and make my own meals. This is just what I wanted. We shall get on well together. What a domestic and regular gentleman Mr. Fogg is, indeed I would call him a real machine and I don't mind serving a machine at all.

(Lights down)

Act I: Scene II: The Reform Club

(Lights up revealing a room not that dissimilar from Mr. Fogg’s but with a painting of Queen Victoria taking pride of place in the centre of the wall. The Guide is sitting on one of the chairs in the room and is fast asleep. A servant enters stage left carrying a platter. The Guide sniffs and sits up expecting the servant to put the platter down but he walks past)

Guide:

Hey, I’m hungry!

(The servant stops, takes a step back and looks at the Guide)

Servant:

(in an upper class accent) Are you a member of this esteemed club, sir?

Guide:

No, but…

Servant:
I am sorry sir, but this food is for the members of the Reform Club only (and he exits stage right)

(The Guide gets up out of the chair suitably annoyed).

Guide:
That’s not fair. I was having a lovely dream of broiled fish with Reading sauce, a scarlet slice of roast beef garnished with mushrooms, a rhubarb and gooseberry tart, and a morsel of Cheshire cheese all being washed down with several cups of tea.

(He notices the audience and regains his composure)

Guide:
Ladies and Gentlemen, welcome to the Reform Club housed within an imposing edifice in Pall Mall, which if the rumours are true could not have cost less than three million pounds to construct! The Reform Club is one of London’s premier societies and as you might expect the membership is just as exclusive. You can only be a member of the Reform Club if you are a member of the Liberal Party.

(The Guide pauses for a moment as “There now follows a party political broadcast on behalf of the Liberal Party” is broadcast)

Guide:

The Liberal Party…

(“That was a party political broadcast on behalf of the Liberal Party. We now return you to your scheduled programme”)

Guide:
(looking annoyed but carrying on regardless) Mr. Fogg was not the only member of the Reform Club to attend this day. He was soon joined by…

(The Guide steps down from the stage as Mr. Fogg enters stage left. The doors to the back of the hall open and each member introduces himself as he enters)

Stuart:
Andrew Stuart, an engineer

Sullivan:
John Sullivan

Fallentin:
and Samuel Fallentin, bankers

Flanagan:
Thomas Flanagan, a brewer

Ralph:
and Gauthier Ralph, one of the Directors of the Bank of England

Guide:
(shaking them by the hand as they step on stage and sit down) All rich and highly respectable personages, even in a club, which comprises the princes of English trade and finance.

(The Guide exits via the back of the hall as a servant brings on a table and the members start to play a game of whist)

Flanagan:
Well, Ralph, what about that robbery?

Stuart:
Oh, the Bank will lose the money.

Ralph:
On the contrary, I hope we may put our hands on the robber. Skilful detectives have been sent to all the principal ports of America and the Continent, and he'll be a clever fellow if he slips through their fingers.

(A servant enters stage left, serves drinks and exits stage right)

Stuart:

But have you got the robber's description?

Ralph:

In the first place, he is no robber at all!

Sullivan:
(spluttering into his drink) A fellow who makes off with fifty-five thousand pounds isn’t a robber? What are you talking about?

Fallentin:

Perhaps he's a manufacturer, then?

Fogg:
The Daily Telegraph says that he is a gentleman

Stuart:

I maintain that the chances are in favour of the thief, who must be a shrewd fellow

Ralph:

Well, but where can he fly to? No country is safe for him! Where could he go, then?

Stuart:

Oh, I don't know that.  The world is big enough!

Fogg:

It was once! Cut, sir (and hands a set of cards to Flanagan)

Stuart:

What do you mean by once?  Has the world grown smaller?

Ralph:
Certainly! I agree with Mr. Fogg.  The world has grown smaller, since a man can now go round it ten times more quickly than a hundred years ago.  And that is why the search for this thief will be more likely to succeed.

Sullivan:

And also why the thief can get away more easily.

Fogg:

Be so good as to play, Mr. Stuart

Stuart:
You have a strange way, Ralph, of proving that the world has grown smaller.  So, because you can go round it in three months…

Fogg:
(interrupting) In eighty days

Sullivan:
That is true! Only eighty days, now that the section between Rothal and Allahabad, on the Great Indian Peninsula Railway, has been opened. Here is the estimate made by the Daily Telegraph: If you leave London and travel to Suez via Mont Cenis and Brindisi by rail and steamboats that will take seven days. You can then take a steamer from Suez to Bombay, which takes thirteen days. After a three-day crossing of India by rail, you encounter a forty-one day marathon sea trip from Calcutta to San Francisco, via Hong Kong and Yokohama. After that a seven-day train journey across the continental United States followed by a nine-day journey across the Atlantic and then back again to London. Grand total of eighty days!

Stuart:
Yes, in eighty days! But that doesn't take into account bad weather, contrary winds, shipwrecks, railway accidents, and so on.

Fogg:

All included!

Stuart:
But suppose the natives pull up the rails, stop the trains, pillage the luggage vans and scalp the passengers?

Fogg:

All included!

Stuart:

You are right, theoretically, Mr. Fogg, but practically…

Fogg:

Practically also, Mr. Stuart

Stuart:

I'd like to see you do it in eighty days

Fogg:

It depends on you.  Shall we go?

Stuart:
Heaven preserve me!  But I would wager four thousand pounds that such a journey, made under these conditions, is impossible

Fogg:
Quite possible!

Sullivan:
Well, make it, then!

Fogg:
The journey?

Sullivan:
Yes

Fogg:

I should like nothing better

Flanagan:

When?

Fogg:

At once.  Only I warn you that I shall do it at your expense

Stuart:

It's absurd!

Fallentin:

Calm yourself, my dear Stuart! It's only a joke.

Stuart:

(staring Fallentin right in the face) When I say I'll wager, I mean it.

Fogg:
All right, I have a deposit of twenty thousand at Baring’s, which I will willingly risk upon it

Sullivan:
(gasps) Twenty thousand pounds, which you would lose by a single accidental delay!

Fogg:
The unforeseen does not exist!

Stuart:
But, Mr. Fogg, eighty days are only the estimate of the least possible time in which the journey can be made

Fogg:
A well-used minimum suffices for everything

Ralph:
But, in order not to exceed it, you must jump mathematically from the trains upon the steamers, and from the steamers upon the trains again

Fogg:
I will jump--mathematically

Fallentin:

You are joking?

Fogg:
A true Englishman doesn't joke when he is talking about so serious a thing as a wager, I will bet twenty thousand pounds against anyone who wishes that I will make the tour of the world in eighty days or less in nineteen hundred and twenty hours, or a hundred and fifteen thousand two hundred minutes.  Do you accept?

(The other members look at each other in stunned silence and then turn to Fogg)

All:

We accept!

Fogg:

Good, The train leaves for Dover at a quarter before nine.  I will take it

Stuart:

This very evening?

Fogg:
(taking out a diary) This very evening! As today is Wednesday, the 2nd of October, I shall be due in London in this very room of the Reform Club, on Saturday, the 21st of December, at a quarter before nine p.m.; or else the twenty thousand pounds, now deposited in my name at Baring's, will belong to you, in fact and in right, gentlemen.  Here is a cheque for the amount

(Fogg writes a cheque for £20,000 and places it on the table. As he does so a clock strikes seven)

Stuart:

Mr. Fogg, you don’t look ready to go on an eighty-day journey

Fogg:

I am quite ready now!  Diamonds are trumps, be so good as to play, gentlemen

(Lights down)

Act I: Scene III: Detection

(The Guide enters the hall and is about to speak when a person wearing a cloth cap barges past him)

Guide:

(annoyed) Hey, I’m trying to do my job here

(The man stops, turns round and starts to walk around the Guide eyeing him up. He takes something out of his pocket and shows it to the Guide)

Fix:
My name is Inspector Fix of Scotland Yard and I have reason to believe that you will be very helpful in my investigations (shouts) Williams, get in here at the double!

(Williams enters the hall puffing and panting)

Williams:
I came as fast as I could sir.

Fix:
(still circling the Guide) Tell me what you make of this fellow, Williams?

Williams:
(looking lost) He’s official looking?

Fix:
(stops circling) Precisely, Williams. He’s the only person here who is. Where were you on the afternoon of September 29th 1872?

Guide:
Fast asleep if you must know. I’d just finished writing my pieces for this tour of the world that I am conducting.

Fix:
A likely story! Williams, that artist’s impression if you will?

(Williams searches his pockets and takes out a small picture that Fix snatches and compares to the Guide)

Fix:
We’ll soon see about that story. (He compares the picture with that Guide) Oh, sorry about that sir (He hands the picture back to Williams) we’re looking for the person who stole the £55,000 from the Bank of England.

Guide:
Does this mean I can continue with my job now?

Fix:
Indeed you can. Come on Williams; let’s interview the rest of these people (and they start looking at the audience)

Guide:
The news that Mr. Fogg was about to undertake a journey of such global proportions was the main story of the day, so it’s hardly surprising that an extra edition of the London Chronicle was published that very night.

(A newspaper boy dashes in holding a newspaper)

Newspaper Boy:
Extra, Extra, Read all about it. Phileas Fogg to travel the globe in less than eighty days. Extra, Extra.

(He heads towards the stage, but as he passes Fix he swipes the paper)

Newspaper Boy:
Hey, sir, you have to pay for that!

Fix:
(engrossed in the paper) Williams, pay the boy will you?

Williams:
Why should I pay him sir?

(Fix growls and looks at him intently)

Williams:
I’ll pay him, sir!

(Williams fumbles in his pockets and produces a coin and hands it to the boy)

Williams:
Change for a shilling?

(The newspaper boy pockets the coin, pretends to find some change and then runs out of the hall)

Williams:
Hey, where’s my change? (To Fix) Sir, he stole my change

Fix:
(reading from the paper) Phileas Fogg, 42, of Savile Row, London will leave this evening on an expedition to travel around the world in eighty days. (Muses) Well, if anyone should do it, it should be an Englishman. (He rolls the paper up but is struck by something. He unrolls the paper and looks at the picture). Williams, that artist’s impression!

(Williams finds the picture and hands it to Fix)

Fix:
(shouts) He’s the one! He’s the person who stole the money from the Benk of Angland, (shakes his head) I mean the Bank of England. (He turns tails and rushes out of the hall) Come along Williams, hurry up!

(Williams follows him)

Guide:
(as the stage lights up to reveal a bookmaker with a blackboard) Not only were the newspapers interested in the news, so were the bookmakers of London

Bookmaker:
Ladies and Gentlemen, roll up for this once in a lifetime opportunity. I am offering odds of five to one that Mr. Fogg will complete his journey in the allotted time. 

(Gaggles of people rush on and start laying bets)

Guide:
Indeed so much was the interest that when Mr. Fogg left Charing Cross station at a quarter to nine that evening on the train for Dover, there was standing room only on the platform such were the crowds of people wishing him well.

(The lights go down on the stage and a policeman enters the hall)

Guide:
Well, what did you make of that officer?

Policeman:
I’ve never seen anything like it at all. There I was on my regular patrol past St. Pancras and the place was positively heaving with people. I will tell you something that was a little odd though.

Guide:
Oh?

Policeman:
My patrol takes me past Mr. Fogg’s house and as I went around to make sure that all the doors were securely locked I’m sure I saw a light in the top floor room that Mr. Fogg’s butlers live in. If his servant has left his gas light on I dread to think what the cost might be. Anyway, must carry on. Evening all! (The policeman bends, heads to the stage and exits stage left)

Act I: Scene IV: Passports?

(Lights up revealing the interior of the British consulate in Suez. The Consul enters stage left and rings a bell. The Guide follows him and sits down on a chair next to him as the Consul unrolls a newspaper with the headline “Journey around the world in eighty days impossibility cites Royal Geographical Society”)

Guide:

I see that Mr. Fogg’s trip is causing quite some discussion then?

Consul:
Indeed it is dear sir, I managed to get a copy of the Telegraph that the journey was printed in and do hope that Mr. Fogg pays us a visit

(A servant enters stage left and bows)

Servant:
Honourable sirs, an Inspector Fix wishes you to see the Consul

Consul:
Send him in.

(The servant exits stage left and the Guide gets up)

Guide:
The consulate in Suez was located not that far from the canal that bears the town’s name and Inspector Fix was the first of many visitors that day.

(The Guide exits stage right as Fix enters stage left)

Fix:
(displaying his credentials) Inspector Fix, Scotland Yard. (He hands a copy of the picture to the Consul) This is Mr. Phileas Fogg, resident at 7 Savile Row, Burlington Gardens, London, England and is wanted for questioning. I trust therefore that you have the relevant papers for me.

Consul:
(looks lost) Papers? What papers?

Fix:
The warrant for the arrest of Mr. Fogg that I asked to be forwarded here a week ago.

Consul:
I’ve had nothing arrive of that sort at all.

(Fix grits his teeth in despair)

Consul:
I wonder if you could explain something to me, Inspector. From what I have read, it sounds as if this robber walked into the Bank of England disguised as a gentlemen. Could it be that you are after the wrong person and that Mr. Fogg is just an ordinary person?

Fix:
That suggestion is simply absurd. 

Consul:
As is your suggestion that he will simply come in here and ask me to stamp his passport.

Fix:
(looks at his watch) I think he will, by the way, when’s the Mongolia due to dock?

Consul:
The Mongolia is due at eleven o'clock. I’ll have you know Inspector that the Mongolia regularly travels between Brindisi and Bombay via the Suez Canal and is one of the fastest steamers belonging to the company always making more than ten knots between Brindisi and Suez and nine and a half between Suez and Bombay.

Fix:
So you say and this steamer is never behind time?

Consul:
Never, Inspector. She was bespoken yesterday at Port Said and the rest of the way is of no account to such a craft.  I’ve said it once and I’ll say it again; the Mongolia has been in advance of the time required by the company's regulations and gained the prize awarded for excess of speed on more than one occasion.

(There is a knock and Fogg and Passepartout enter stage left. Fix ducks besides the Consul’s desk and peers out as Fogg approaches the Consul’s desk, takes off his hat and passes his passport to the Consul who examines it carefully)

Consul:
You are Mr. Phileas Fogg?

Fogg:
I am

Consul:
(looking at Passepartout) And this man is your servant?

Fogg:
He is!

Consul:
You are from London?

Fogg:
Yes

Consul:
And you are going to?

Fogg:
Bombay

Consul:
You know that a visa is useless, and that no passport is required?

Fogg:
I know, sir but I wish to prove by your visa, that I came by Suez

Consul:
Very well, sir (and stamps the passport) That will be fifty pounds please.

(Passepartout opens the bag and Fogg takes out a bundle of notes leading to an audible groan from Fix. After paying, Fogg bows and he and Passepartout exit stage left and Fix stands up again)

Fix:
Well?

Consul:
Well, he looks and acts like a perfectly honest man

Fix:
Possibly, but that isn’t the question.  Now that you’ve seen him face to face, you have to agree that he does bear a stunning resemblance to the picture I have of the robber.

Consul:
I concede that but then, you know, all descriptions…

Fix:
I'll make certain of it. The servant seems to me less mysterious than the master; besides, he's a Frenchman, and can't help talking.  Excuse me for a little while, consul.

(Fix exits stage left and the Guide re-enters stage right)

Guide:
Inspector Fix found Passepartout doing some shopping in the town of Suez and after a little discussion with him was convinced that Mr. Fogg was indeed the man he had been assigned to trail. The only problem remained the small matter of the warrant, which arrived in Suez the following day.

(Lights down and then up to reveal the Consul opening a letter)

Consul:
(reading) To the Honourable Bartholomew Bottomley, consul for the United Kingdom in Suez, Egypt. Sir, please find enclosed the warrant for the arrest of Mr. Phileas Fogg of 7 Savile Row, Burlington Gardens, London for questioning about the robbery of the Bank of England on September 29th 1872. Yours, Commissioner Rowan, Scotland Yard, London. (The Consul rings a bell and the servant appears) I say, have you seen that Inspector Fix person recently?

Servant:
No, honourable sir, but I do remember seeing him rushing on board the Mongolia with a colleague of his.

Consul:
Thank you (the servant exits) Looks like I’ll have to forward this to Bombay then.

(Lights down)

Act I: Scene V: Shuffleboard anyone?

(Lights up to reveal a ship’s deck. The Guide enters stage left dressed in an sailor’s suit and makes his way down to the floor)

Guide:
(singing) A life on the ocean wave, a home on the rolling deep. Where the scattered waters rave, and the winds their revels keep! Like an eagle caged, I pine, on this dull, unchanging shore. Oh! Give me the flashing brine, the spray and the tempest's roar! Once more on the deck I stand of my own swift-gliding craft. Set sail! Farewell to the land! The gale follows fair abaft. A life on the ocean wave, a home on the rolling deep. Where the scattered waters rave, and the winds their revels keep! (Takes a deep breath) Ah, smell that sea air. There’s nothing like travelling on board a ship to get you in the mood is there? And for me that can only mean one thing. (Grabs a broom and pretends to play) With a one, and a two and a push (He follows the imaginary puck down the hall and a “plop” sound is heard). Oh dear, guess I pushed it too hard. Still I dare say that experts in the game will be able to more success. Speaking of which…

(The Guide steps down from the stage and bows as Mr. Fogg, Passepartout and a person dressed in a military uniform enter from the back)

Fogg:

Brigadier Cromarty, I have never met anyone who adept at whist.

Cromarty:
And I have never met anyone so determined to prove that Britain rules the waves Mr. Fogg. I mean an eighty-day journey around the world beggars’ belief.

Passepartout:
It is true, monsieur.

(The Guide passes the broom to Passepartout and he heads back to the stage)

Fogg:
Ah, shuffleboard. Fancy a game Brigadier and to make it a bit more exciting shall we play a penny per point?

Cromarty:
Capital idea Mr. Fogg

(As Fogg, Cromarty and Passepartout start their game, the Guide steps back onto the stage)

Guide:
Unbeknownst to Mr. Fogg, however, their game was being observed.

(The Guide exits stage left as Fix enters from stage left, then ducks behind the side)

Fix:
(quietly) Williams, get out here now!

(Williams staggers on stage right holding his stomach)

Williams:
(groaning) I’ve got to get to the rail Inspector. I feel so sick I don’t think I can stand (and he sits on the deck)

Fix:
(quietly) Williams, I’m beginning to lose my patience with you. What kind of police constable are you anyway?

Williams:
(groaning) An ill one, sir!

(Fix looks around and gingerly steps from stage left to stage right and puts a comforting arm around Williams)

Fix:
There, there, Williams, let me help you up (He helps Williams up) Remember that we’re British. We’re a naturally sea faring race. We face winter storms every year and don’t let it upset us in the slightest.

Williams:
I know that sir, but back home in London you don’t get to watch possible criminals having slap up meals at the Captain’s table. I mean did you see what Mr. Fogg had for dinner last night? Spaghetti from Italy, Squid from the Mediterranean

Fix:
Williams, please!

Williams:
Octopus from the Red Sea

Fix:
(starting to feel queasy) Enough, Williams

Williams:
and what about that caviar specially imported from Russia?

Fix:
(holding his stomach) I’m going to be sick (he dashes off stage right)

(A loud retch can be heard and Mr. Fogg looks up)

Fogg:
Oh dear, sounds like someone’s not feeling very well.

(Fogg, Cromarty and Passepartout conclude their game with Cromarty paying Mr. Fogg several coins)

Cromarty:
And may I add what a fine shuffleboard player you are as well Mr. Fogg. I insist that you have dinner with me this evening and perhaps have a few more hands of whist as well.

Fogg:
Indeed, after all it is our last night on board. It will be a shame to part company Brigadier perhaps we will meet again soon.

(The group head towards the stage and Williams exits stage right as the group exit stage left)

Act I: Scene VI: Back at The Reform Club

(Lights up to reveal the Reform Club. The Guide enters stage left bringing a lectern with him)

Guide:
Of the members of the Reform Club, Lord Albermarle was by far the oldest and most respected member. Having seen active service in India when news of Mr. Fogg having arrived in Bombay was announced, he was invited to tell the members of his memories of the country and the problems that Mr. Fogg might face.

(The Guide exits stage left as Lord Albermarle enters stage right and the members of the Reform Club enter from the back of the hall and sit down either side of Lord Albermarle)

Albermarle:
Gentlemen, today is October 20th 1872, and I have just heard news that Mr. Fogg has arrived in Bombay.

Ralph:
And when he does, gentlemen, we shall have our thief!

Albermarle:
(whacking his stick on the lectern) I assure you Mr. Ralph, that Phileas Fogg is no thief! But I digress. I merely thought that you would like to know what I know about India. I have to admit that a lot of things have changed from my day when I was a soldier under the leadership of Clive.

Stuart:
(amazed) You, followed Clive?

Albermarle:
Indeed I did, Mr. Stuart and let me tell you India in those days was quite a different place. Everybody knows that the great reversed triangle of land, with its base in the north and its apex in the south called India embraces fourteen hundred thousand square miles, upon which is spread unequally a population of one hundred and eighty millions of souls. The British Crown has a governor-general stationed at Calcutta, governors at Madras, Bombay, and in Bengal, and a lieutenant governor at Agra. But British India, properly so called, only embraces seven hundred thousand square miles, and a population of from one hundred to one hundred and ten millions of inhabitants. A considerable portion of India is still free from British authority; and there are certain ferocious rajahs in the interior who are absolutely independent.

Fallentin:
Don’t I just know it! One of those blighters refused me an audience when I wanted to buy some land of his. (Notices that Albermarle is staring at him).  Sorry, your lordship. Carry on.

Albermarle:
Thank you. The celebrated East India Company was all-powerful from 1756, when the English first gained a foothold on the spot where now stands the city of Madras, down to the time of the great Sepoy insurrection. But the East India Company has now passed away, leaving the British possessions in India directly under the control of the Crown. The aspect of the country, as well as the manners and distinctions of race, is daily changing. Formerly one was obliged to travel in India by the old cumbrous methods of going on foot or on horseback, in palanquins or unwieldy coaches; now fast steamboats ply on the Indus and the Ganges, and a great railway, with branch lines joining the main line at many points on its route, traverses the peninsula from Bombay to Calcutta in three days.

Flanagan:
But as we said your Lordship eighteen days ago when Mr. Fogg left that’s the bare minimum.

Albermarle:
Whether it is the bare minimum or not, it is the schedule that Mr. Fogg has chosen. Now, allow me to show you the general route. (He taps the lectern and a servant enters carrying a rolled up map. He comes to the front of the stage and unrolls it). The general route of the Great Indian Peninsula Railway is as follows: Leaving Bombay, it passes through Salcette, crossing to the continent opposite Tannah, goes over the chain of the Western Ghauts, runs thence north-east as far as Burhampoor, skirts the nearly independent territory of Bundelcund, ascends to Allahabad, turns thence eastwardly, meeting the Ganges at Benares, then departs from the river a little, and, descending south-eastward by Burdivan and the French town of Chandernagor, has its terminus at Calcutta. Thank you. (The servant rolls the map up and exits stage left).

Sullivan:
You can see why, your Lordship, that Fogg cannot possibly do that journey in three days. Might I remind your Lordship that in Bundelcund the followers of several religions reside. Some of which I may add are not very friendly indeed. I think you will find that I was right to wager £4,000 against Mr. Fogg completing his trip on time. In fact, I would dare say that by the middle of next week, not only will we have heard that Mr. Fogg has not only failed to cross India but he will returning home to England either under arrest or in a wooden box!

(The rest of the Reform Club members murmur in agreement)

Albermarle:
(taking umbrage) How dare you Mr. Sullivan! I have wagered £5,000 myself that Mr. Fogg will succeed in his attempt and I would have thought that as members of the Reform Club you would be backing Mr. Fogg rather than wishing him ill. (He exits stage right waving his stick at Mr. Sullivan)

(The members of the Reform Club get up and exit by the back of the hall as the Guide enters stage left)

Guide:
Indeed, India is a wild place compared to England as Mr. Fogg was about to find out for himself!

(Lights down)

Act I: Scene VII: Letting the Train take the Strain

(Lights up revealing a railway carriage. A person is already sitting on one of the seats and is currently watching the countryside speeding past. A train guard knocks and enters stage left)

Guard:

Honourable sir, may I impose upon you two gentlemen from London?

Person:

(not turning around) Of course, my man.

(The guard exits stage left and Fogg and Passepartout enter stage left. Passepartout’s hat is obvious by it’s absence. They both sit down opposite the person who turns round)

Person:

(amazed) By Jove, it’s not is it?

Fogg:
(pleasantly surprised) Brigadier Sir Francis Cromarty of Her Majesty’s Battalion at Benares. What a pleasure to meet you again!

Cromarty:
The pleasure is all mine Mr. Fogg. After all, you must have been the only player on board the Mongolia during its passage that won every single game of whist played on the journey! So how are you finding India then and are you on schedule?

Fogg:
I am two days ahead of schedule, Brigadier and as for India, well; I think it’s gone down a little in my estimation.

Cromarty:
Why do you say that?

Fogg:
I was attending the restaurant at the station in Bombay and ordered some rabbit. The waiter brought it out and when I looked at it there was something about it that didn’t look quite right. I asked the waiter if it was rabbit and he said that it was. Jungle Rabbit to be precise! And this rabbit did not mew when he was killed I asked him. Mew, my lord!  What, a rabbit mew!  I swear to you he started, but I stopped him in his tracks and told him that firstly he shouldn’t swear and that there was a time when cats were sacred in India, a time when it was good for the cats and for the travellers as well.

(Cromarty bursts out laughing and then notices that Passepartout is looking very glum)

Cromarty:
I say, dear boy, perk up. It’s not the end of the world.

Passepartout:
It might as well be, monsieur. Whilst Monsieur Fogg was having lunch, I decided to have a look at Bombay and found a very interesting building and so decided to have a little look. The next thing I knew I was looking at the flagstones in the courtyard.

Cromarty:
Oh dear, did you trip over on them?

Passepartout:
Non, monsieur, I was being attacked by three people all dressed in bright orange and shouting in an intelligible language and trying to take my hat off. I managed to get back on my feet and knocked two of them down and ran as far as I could back to the station. It was one that I had bought in Paris and I can never afford to replace it. (He sniffs) If I may be excused Monsieurs, I would like to be alone for a few moments. (He gets up and exits stage left)

Cromarty:
My word, he’s been in the wars then hasn’t he? I must say though from what he said, it sounds like he found a pagoda. And if that’s the case he was very lucky to escape with his life. Those priests are very wary of people entering their temples who are not of their faith.

Fogg:

I can well imagine, but it is of no concern.

Cromarty:
No concern? Mr. Fogg, your manservant’s hat could cost you your wager. If that hat ends up in a court of law, then you will lose your bet. The punishment for entering a pagoda is…

Fogg:

…as long as the authorities see fit. I would simply carry on without him.

Cromarty:
(perplexed) Maybe, but you do know that a decade ago you would have met with a delay at this point.

Fogg:

How so, Sir Francis?

Cromarty:
Because the railway stopped at the base of these mountains, which the passengers were obliged to cross in palanquins or on ponies to Kandallah, on the other side

Fogg:
Such a delay would not have deranged my plans in the least; I have constantly foreseen the likelihood of certain obstacles. Now, if you will excuse me it’s been a very long day. When Passepartout comes back would you be so kind as to instruct him to wake me up at 8.30am for my morning cup of tea. (Fogg goes to sleep on the seat)

(The Brigadier yawns as well as settles down to sleep. The lights go down as the Guide enters from the back and makes his way towards the stage)

Guide:
(stopping at the bottom of the stairs) Ladies and Gentlemen, we are now crossing India where the very names speak of the mysteries of the East. On your left for example is Hamdahdah, on your right is Pandish and in a few moments time we will be travelling through Kholby where refreshments will be available. However we do ask that passengers remain in their seats for the journey after Kholby and ensure that all windows are closed, as the train will be travelling through some very rough areas indeed.

(A the Guide step onto the stage he is thrown by a force to exit stage left. The same force causes Fogg, Cromarty and Passepartout to wake up and be shunted in their seats. A few seconds later a whistle is heard and a guard enter the hall from the back)

Guard:
Thank you for riding with Indian Railways honourable sirs and ladies. Please be advised that we have reached the end of the line.

(Fogg gets up from his seat and goes to the Guard)

Fogg:
Excuse me, sir. Can I ask what you meant by “the end of the line”?

Guard:
(surprised) You mean you didn’t know? Honourable sir, I am sorry to report that you have to provide your own transport from here to Allahabad.

Cromarty:
(standing up) What? (Dashes down to Mr. Fogg’s side) I was told that this train was connected between Bombay and Calcutta!

Guard:
I am sorry, honourable sir, but the person who sold you your ticket was working under an apprehension. I would like to apolgise on his behalf but advise you that if you have any comments please direct them to the stationmaster at Bombay. Thank you

(The Guard carries on towards the stage advising the audience and then exits stage left)

Passepartout:
Mon dieu, does that mean that we’re stuck in the middle of the Indian jungle?

Fogg:
(leading the group through the doors at the back of the hall) It certainly looks like it!

Act I: Scene VIII: Oh, he’s going to love this!

(Lights up revealing the Reform Club. Lord Albermarle is having a doze on a chaise longue. The doors at the back suddenly burst open and Ralph comes running up the centre waving a newspaper)

Ralph:
Lord Albermarle, Lord Albermarle. Wake up. It’s a disaster!

Albermarle:
(wakes up) What? What’s happened? Has the Prime Minister resigned? Has the Stock Exchange crashed?

Ralph:
(getting on stage) Worse than that, your Lordship! Listen to this. (He opens the newspaper) Bombay, British India, October 23rd 1872. Phileas Fogg disappears in central British India. This newspaper can report that the British adventurer Phileas Fogg who left London 21 days ago to attempt an eighty day circumnavigation of the world did not arrive at Allahabad Station as planned yesterday. Reports on the ground suggest that the recently completed railway linking Bombay and Calcutta actually terminates near the village of Kohlby and that passengers have to make their own way to Allahabad in order to continue the journey to Calcutta. The Secretary of State for Foreign and Empire Affairs in London will make a statement to Parliament this afternoon and launch a formal investigation into the reports of the completion of the railway line. (Closes) I just hope that Mr. Sullivan hasn’t read this.

(The doors at the back open again and Sullivan enters)

Sullivan:
He has read it.

(He walks up to the stage chuckling)

Sullivan:
Rather poetic justice don’t you think? He steals £55,000, launches into an alleged trip around the world with the whole intention of travelling to Calcutta to spend his ill gotten gains, and is now lost in the jungles of central India. All in all it couldn’t have happened to a nicer person (and he laughs)

Albermarle:
No, I am sure that not only is Mr. Fogg not the thief, but he will manage to find his way out of his predicament.

Sullivan:
Give it up, your Lordship. I’ve just been down to the Exchange and the latest price on Fogg is 10,000 to 1 against. He’s now worth the same as those junk bonds people keep trading in an effort to try and get themselves out of debt. Now, if you will excuse me I’m going to Harrod’s to see what I can buy with my £4,000 winnings. (and he laughs as he exits stage left).

Ralph:
(joining Lord Albermarle) You don’t think Mr. Fogg is…?

Albermarle:
I’m reminded of something a friend of mine said during my days in India, Ralph. He was a very odd person mind but a dab hand with a cricket bat. He told me that whenever you felt down and needed some encouragement, you should say to yourself “Brave heart”. If we ever needed a brave heart Mr. Ralph, it’s now!

(Lights down)

(End of Act I)

Act II: Scene I: In the Jungles

(Throughout there is the sound of drums. The Guide enters by the back of the hall and quietly makes his way to the front making sure that he’s not seen. He crouches by the bottom of the steps and then gets down on his stomach and crawls to the middle)

Guide:
(quietly) India, the largest contingent of the British Empire was proving a major stumbling ground for Mr. Fogg. Despite the best efforts of himself and the Brigadier, they seemed destined to be stuck in Kholby. But Mr. Fogg’s faithful servant found the answer.

(An elephant trumpets)

Guide:
(quietly) Near to where the train had stopped, there was an elephant owner training his elephants for a life of toting and lifting. After lengthy discussions, the owner agreed to sell Mr. Fogg the elephant for £2,000 and so their journey could be continued, but little did they know what they were about to encounter. Especially when what they encountered was that (and points to the back of the hall as the doors open and a procession make it way to the stage. The Guide scrambles up to the stage and hides behind the edge looking out occasionally)

Guide:
First came the priests, with mitres on their heads, and clothed in long lace robes.  Men, women, and children, who sang a kind of lugubrious psalm, interrupted at regular intervals by the tambourines and cymbals, surrounded them. A group of old fakirs were capering and making a wild ado round a statue; Some Brahmins, clad in all the sumptuousness of Oriental apparel, and leading a woman who faltered at every step, followed.  This woman was young, and as fair as a European.  Her head and neck, shoulders, ears, arms, hands, and toes were loaded down with jewels and gems with bracelets, earrings, and rings; while a tunic bordered with gold, and covered with a light muslin robe, betrayed the outline of her form.

(The procession stops at the foot of the stage and the woman is brought onto the stage)

Guide:
The High Priestess arrived on the scene and began her sermon

(An elderly priestess enters stage left and takes the woman to the back of the stage. She sits her on a trunk and bounds her before addressing the crowd)

Priestess:
Oh mighty Eluned, goddess of all that is Welsh, we praise your awesome power.

(The crowd at the foot of the stage start chanting “Duw, Duw”)

Priestess:
Mighty Eluned, consort of Ieuan the all powerful, who decrees which sheep will be sold in the market of life, we present you with the Princess Audoa who dared to translate our most sacred text which we will now perform in reverance to your great power.

(Everything goes quiet as a group of children go on to the stage, line up and sing “Miggledy, Maggledy!”)

Priestess:
Therefore as in accordance with your texts, we shall proceed to torture the Princess until she gives in to our demands and joins us in following your great power.

(The gathering dispere around the hall, then turn to face the Priestess who is behind the Princess. She raises her hands and conducts them as they sing “The Lion Sleeps Tonight”. During this the Princess begs for mercy. The song continues until the back doors open. Fogg runs in, closely followed by Passepartout and Cromarty).

Fogg:

Stop in the name of Dai Jones!

(The gathering stops singing. Using the confusion Passepartout dashes onto the stage whilst Cromarty protects Fogg from the gathering. Passepartout unties the Princess and carries her down to the floor)

Fogg:

Back to the elephant!

(Passepartout carries the Princess out of the hall and is closely followed by Cromarty, Fogg and the Guide)

Priestess:
Destroy the infidels. Ieuan demands it!

(The tribe all stream out of the hall with the Priestess bringing up the rear)

Act II: Scene II: Breaking News

(Lights up revealing the Reform Club as the Guide enters from the back of the hall and dusts himself down. He makes his way to the stage)

Guide:
The Reform Club having been informed about Mr. Fogg’s disappearance at Kholby had been completely unaware of his recent exploits so were very surprised indeed when an unexpected visitor arrived in the middle of the morning on November 1st 1872, 30 days after Mr. Fogg had left London.

(The Guide exits stage left as the members of the Reform Club enter stage left and right as the doors to the hall burst open and a gentleman comes running along)

Sullivan:

Good grief, Commissioner Rowan? What you are doing here?

Rowan:

We’ve got him! We’ve got him!

(Rowan bounds on stage, finds Ralph and dances a jig with him much to everyone’s amusement)

Ralph:

(pushing Rowan away) What do you mean “you’ve got him”?

Rowan:
(fumbles in his pockets) I’ve got it right here somewhere (produces a piece of paper and reads from it) From the British Consulate, Calcutta, British India to Commissioner Rowan, Scotland Yard, London, England. Having pursued Mr. Fogg on the charges of robbery of the Bank of England, we were informed that he had also stolen an elephant

(The other Reform Club members look at each other stunned)

Rowan:
This however was a misunderstanding but investigations led us to a pagoda in Bombay where the local priests alleged that his manservant had defiled their temple. In India as I am sure you are aware this is as great a crime as robbery is in England. Therefore we are pursuing the case. The commissioner of police here in Calcutta assures me that the trail will happen this afternoon. Dated this day the 25th day of October 1872. Inspector Fix. (puts paper back in his pocket) and having consulted with the Foreign and Empire Office I can tell you that the punishment for defiling a temple is being imprisoned for 15 days and being fined £300.

Sullivan:
Which means that he won’t be able to catch the connection to Singapore, which means that we’ve won the bet! (dances for joy) Oh, where’s Lord Albermarle I’ve got to tell him this!

(The doors at the back of the hall open and Lord Albermarle comes in holding a newspaper)

Sullivan:
(coming down to the floor) Your Lordship, may I offer my sadness at you losing your bet. I dare say that the £5,000 that you have wagered will be put to good use.

Albermarle:
(lowering his paper) Sullivan?

Sullivan:
Commissioner Rowan here has just explained to us that Mr. Fogg has been jailed for 15 days and therefore has lost his bet.

Albermarle:
Oh dear, you’re not very well informed are you Mr. Sullivan?

(He brushes Sullivan aside who looks lost and climbs to the stage, sits down and opens his newspaper)

Albermarle:
(reading from the paper) This newspaper has just received astounding news from our correspondent in Calcutta, British India regarding Phileas Fogg. On October 25th, 23 days after leaving London Mr. Fogg and his manservant Jean Passepartout were the defendants in a sacrilege trail in Calcutta between Jean Passepartout and the priests of the Malabar Hill temple in Bombay, British India. The priests alleged that Mr, Passepartout has defiled one of their holy cows by placing his hat on it. Both men admitted the charge but Mr. Fogg defending for both of them asked the priests if they could explain what they had been intending to do with the Princess Audoa who was sitting besides Mr. Fogg in the courtroom. Mr. Passepartout shouted “Yes, you were torturing this poor woman!” Judge Obadiah who was in charge of the proceedings brought the court to order and asked the defendants if they could explain their allegation. The defendants went on to explain that the Princess was being tortured at a temple just outside Kholby, but the judge ruled the evidence out of order as the charged under discussion related to Bombay. At this point, exhibit A was produced at which point Mr. Passepartout shouted “That’s my hat!”. Judge Obadiah ruled that both Mr. Fogg and Mr, Passepartout should be jailed for 15 days and fined £300 plus costs.

Sullivan:
See what I mean, your Lordship!

Albermarle:
(pulling the paper down and looking at Sullivan sternly) I’ve not finished yet. (he pulls the paper back up and resumes reading) At that point Mr. Fogg stood up and offered bail.

Sullivan:
(shocked) He did what?

Albermarle:
Judge Obadiah set bail at a total of £2,000 and would be returned on completion of their sentence. Mr. Fogg then announced that he would pay the bail that very moment and after the legal issues were addressed both Mr. Fogg and Mr. Passepartout were released from custody and were last seen boarding the Rangoon which should arrive in Singapore on November 1st. (lowering the paper) I think you’ll find he’s back on schedule Mr. Sullivan

(Sullivan is furious and eyes Rowan)

Rowan:
(starting to leave) If you will excuse me gentlemen! (He goes down the steps slowly, then breaks into a sprint as Sullivan follows)

Sullivan:
(shouts) ROWAN!

(Lights down)

Act II: Scene III: Hong Kong Bong

(Lights up revealing a very busy quayside. The Guide enters stage left and manages to avoid being mown down by the flurry of activity)

Guide:
The Rangoon arrived in Hong Kong harbour on November 6th 1872, however the Carnatic that would carry Mr. Fogg to Yokohama in Japan had left on November 5th 1872, thus it seems the journey would fail.

(A sailor enters stage left and taps him on the shoulder)

Guide:
Yes, can I help?

Sailor:
Are you looking for the Carnatic bound for Yokohama?

Guide:
Not me, personally, but it would be interesting to know how far away it is.

Sailor:
(looks at him puzzled) You mean you can’t see it?

Guide:
Not unless I had a pair of binoculars. I imagine it’s probably a good hundred miles away by now.

(The sailor turns the guide to his left and points)

Guide:
I’m sorry, what I am supposed to be looking at?

Sailor:
The Carnatic! One of it’s boilers exploded yesterday morning so he’s been stuck in harbour ever since. She’s due to sail tomorrow though.

Guide:
(shaking his hand) My dear sir, thank you. You’ve given us all great courage

Sailor:
Think nothing of it (and he exits stage right).

Guide:
With the news that the Carnatic had not sailed yet, Mr. Fogg and company decided to spend time in Hong Kong in order to rest after their recent exploits. However, they were not the only British citizens in Hong Kong that day.

(The Guide exits stage right and a very dejected looking Fix enter stage left and sits on the edge of the stage. He humphs as Williams enters stage right and sits beside him)

Williams:

It’s not your fault sir.

Fix:
I know, Williams, but I feel that that warrant is chasing me rather than the other way around. I asked it to be sent to Suez, it arrived after me, it was forwarded to Bombay and arrived after me, it happened again in Calcutta and now here as well. Not that the local police commissioner here was much help. During my meeting he did nothing but trim his moustache and then announce he was off to lunch at half past eleven in the morning (growls).

Williams:
I’m sorry to hear that sir.

Fix:
I mean, I had it all planned Williams, down to the last detail. I would get the warrant from the commissioner, find out where Fogg was staying and present it to him and after announcing his formal arrest would add (sings) Fix is my name and you should remember it when you are locked in a jail, sooner or later you won’t be free any more! And now I have to sit here waiting for that darned warrant again. I feel like a complete embarrassment!

Williams:
Now don’t say that sir. I respect you.

Fix:
(turning to Williams) If it wasn’t so out of order Williams, I’d hug you, but I do feel like a complete embarrassment especially to my family. My great grandfather was one of the original Bow Street Peelers and every member of the family tree is involved in policing in one way or another. I’m beginning to think that my cousin was right.

Williams:
Cousin, sir? You mean the one in Cornwall.

Fix:
(smiling) Yes, him. He had the right idea all right. When he told us that he’d become a police sergeant in Penzance, we all thought he’d got a very cosy number indeed. And it wasn’t helped by the fact that he gave that interview to that darned Gilbert chap.

Williams:
Gilbert, sir?

Fix:
Yes, one half of those people who write those comic operas for the Savoy Theatre under the directorship of D’Oyly Carte. When that opera about those Cornish pirates appeared and his moans were used as the base for one of the songs I couldn’t face the rest of the police force for a month without them mentioning it.

Williams:
The Pirates of Penzance, sir? That’s one of my favourites that is!

Fix:
In that case, Williams (standing up) would you care to join me in a chorus? Perhaps it will put me in a better mood!

Williams:
I’d be delighted sir!

(Williams stands up and joins Fix singing, “When a felon’s not engaged” from the Pirates of Penzance. When they finish they both laugh)

Fix:

Oh, thank you Williams I needed that, I needed that a lot!

Williams:

Anytime sir.

Fix:
Even so, what I wouldn’t do to be able to grab hold of that Mr. Fogg and physically drag him back to London.

(A sailor enters stage left behind them and makes his way to stage right wobbling as he does so)

Fix:
And I’ve just had an idea how to. Williams, find out where Mr. Fogg is staying. I’ve got a manservant to waylay.

(Williams exits stage left and Fix exits stage right with a wicked smile on his face. The Guide enters stage left)

Guide:
Whilst Inspector Fix and Constable Williams have not been having much luck getting what they wanted, the same could also be said about Mr. Fogg. Having rescued the Princess, he found out that she was in fact related to a major trading family in Hong Kong and so had promised to return her to their safety. Unfortunately for Mr. Fogg the family had moved away from Hong Kong to the Netherlands several years ago. And when he told the Princess about this discovery the question arose about her position to which Mr. Fogg simply replied:

(Fogg enters stage left with Aouda on his arm)

Fogg:
Go on to Europe! (and exits stage right)

Guide:
So as a result, Passepartout was asked to purchase an extra set of tickets for the Carnatic to Yokohama which he did, however on the way back from the booking office he ran into a person he recognised as a employee of the Polar and Oriental shipping company who asked if he wouldn’t mind having a drink with him at one of the many bars in Hong Kong. He wanted to meet to impart some important information.

(The Guide exits stage right as a waiter brings on a pair of seats and uncorks a bottle of wine and fills up two glasses. Fix enters stage left with Passepartout close behind)

Fix:
I’m reminded of my days in the service of course (he pretends to drink his glass) Well, bottom’s up eh sir?

Passepartout:
It’s very kind of you to offer monsieur but I must be going.

Fix:
Why are you in such a hurry? It’s not everyday that a person visits Hong Kong. You should appreciate the city.

Passepartout:
You said that you had something important to tell me. Now are you going to tell me or not?

Fix:
In all good time, sir. Here’s mud in your eye (and pretends to drink the glass again)

Passepartout:
And to you, monsieur (and drinks the contents of his glass which Fix then asks for a refill for)

Fix:
That’s more like it, eh? Why not have another one eh?

Passepartout:
(hiccups) I’ve done what you have asked me to do, now what is it that you know about Monsieur Fogg?

Fix:
You have no idea how fascinating your Mr. Fogg is. But before I bore you with the details, another one for the road or should I say ocean eh? (laughs)

Passepartout:
(begrudgingly) For the ocean (and downs his glass and hiccups again) Pardon!

Fix:
Apology accepted. Waiter, another glass for my friend here!

Passepartout:
If you will not tell me what is so interesting in Monsieur Fogg, I will leave this table now.

Fix:
All right, calm down. No need to make a fuss (He produces his papers) My name is Inspector Fix of Scotland Yard and I have been charged with following your Mr. Fogg ever since he left London and followed him I have done!

Passepartout:
(bolts upright) You’ve been following us ever since London?

Fix:
That’s right and I am glad to see that I have your undivided attention. It’s always difficult when a friend is a suspected criminal.

Passepartout:
Monsieur Fogg, a criminal (hiccups) Impossible!

Fix:
As much as I wish it wasn’t the case, I’m afraid he is. Have another glass to get over the shock.

(Passepartout down the glass and it is refilled again)

Fix:
This whole round the world trip is nothing but a major ploy to divert attention away from the fact that he is the chief suspect in the robbery of the Bank of England just before he left.

Passepartout:
(stands up) Monsieur Fogg is no thief. He’d never do anything like that!

(Passepartout suddenly wobbles and sits down with a bump)

Fix:
(quietly) Do we really want the whole of Hong Kong to know that he is a suspect?

Passepartout:
(hiccups) Non, monsieur

Fix:
There’s a good butler. Now, let me tell you something. I think it would be in both our interests if you helped me and I helped you. After all at the moment you could be sent to jail as Mr. Fogg’s accomplice and I don’t think you want to have that on your record do you?

Passepartout:
Non, monsieur

Fix:
So here’s what I want you to do. I would like you to keep Mr. Fogg here in Hong Kong for as long as it takes the arrest warrant to arrive here as well. Simple as pie really! A visit to the Victoria Harbour racetrack for instance. You could wile away a pleasant evening there or if you fancied it how about climbing the nearby mountain. I’ve heard that on a clear day you can see well into China.

Passepartout:
I won’t do it, Inspector!

Fix:
What?

Passepartout:
I will not listen to another word. Not only is he my employer but he is also my friend. I wouldn’t do anything to betray him to anyone!

(Fix growls under his breath and Passepartout starts to groan)

Fix:
(calmly) Well if that’s your opinion then there’s nothing more I can do to convince you. May I say that in all my days as an Inspector you are the most loyal person I have ever met. Mr. Fogg should be very pleased to know that you are so loyal to him. And just to show there are no hard feelings how about one last drink eh? A toast to future friendships and to me giving up this case safe in the knowledge that Mr. Fogg is completely innocent.

Passepartout:
You mean that? (hiccups)

Fix:
Absolutely. This is the last time that we shall meet. I shall return to London on the first available boat and you will catch the Carnatic with Mr. Fogg and continue on your journey. Cheers!

(Fix and Passepartout chink glasses and Passepartout downs his drink in one whilst Fix pretends to sip at his)

Passepartout:
(drunkenly) I thank you (hiccups) Inspector Fix (hiccups) God save the Queen! (and collapses on the floor)

Fix:
Excellent. (shouts) Williams!

(Williams enters from the back of the hall with a wheelbarrow. Fix drags Passepartout to the wheelbarrow and Williams loads him in it)

Fix:
Right, take him to the harbour and dump him near the Carnatic. With luck he’ll wake up before it leaves and board it thinking that Mr. Fogg will be on board as well thus separating them. Divide and conquer, Williams, Divide and Conquer.

(Fix and Williams exit with Passepartout in the wheelbarrow snoring through the back of the hall)

Act II: Scene IV: Circus Tricks

(Lights up revealing the British Consulate in Yokohama. The Consul enters sits down and starts opening letters as the Guide enters stage left)

Guide:
The British Consul in Yokohama, Japan was most surprised by his mail on the morning on November 15th 1872. There among all the usual mass of communications was a letter that has been posted in London on October 2nd, and had been forwarded via Suez, Bombay, Calcutta, Singapore and most recently Hong Kong. As he opened the letter, he was informed that two people from London had come to see him. He consented to grant them an audience.

(The Guide exits stage right as Fix and Williams enter from the back of the hall)

Consul:
Ah, Inspector Fix and Constable Williams, how can I help you this fine day?

Fix:
Good morning, sir. We are following the suspected thief Phileas Fogg and felt that we should announce ourselves to you.

Consul:
Ah, that would explain this letter then. (He hands the letter to Fix) I can’t imagine what took it so long to get here though.

Fix:
(getting more excited as he reads) To Inspector Fix, this warrant allows for the arrest of Mr. Phileas Fogg of 7 Savile Row, London for questioning about the robbery of the Bank of England on September 29th 1872. (to Williams) Do you know what this means?

Williams:
We can have some lunch?

Fix:
No, Williams. It means that we have finally caught him (to the Consul) Sir, I would like to express my deepest thanks to you and ask to speak to your chief of police immediately. I can see it now, a whole detachment of policemen bearing down on him like a wolf on the fold…

Consul:
(trying to interuppt) Er, Inspector Fix…

Fix:
and I can then hand this piece of paper to him and arrest him…

Consul:
Inspector Fix, I’m sorry to interrupt…

Fix:
and then I’ll be able to take him back to London. Oh, there’s got to be a promotion in this for me.

Consul:
(shouting) Inspector Fix!

(Fix turns to the Consul)

Consul:
I’m sorry to break into your good mood but there is something that you seem to have forgotten. That warrant is only valid in lands of the British Empire and unless you want to seize the Japanese nation for Her Majesty, all you have there is a worthless piece of paper!

(Fix looks crestfallen)

Fix:
Drat, back to the old drawing board Williams! (and they exit dejectedly stage right as the Guide enters stage left)

Guide:
You can imagine the Consul’s surprise then when later on that same day another group of British citizens paid him a visit

(The Guide exits stage left as Fogg and the Princess enter from the back of the hall. The Princess is carrying the bag)

Fogg:
Good afternoon sir, am I addressing the British consul for the country of Japan?

Consul:
You are indeed, sir. May I first of all welcome you to Japan and ask how I may of assistance to someone who if I may say so seems rather a long way from home?

Fogg:
I am indeed a long way from home, sir, and that is part of the reason I am here. I am currently on an expedition that requires me to board the General Grant at 6.30pm this evening, however due to an accident, the details of which I don’t know, my butler has become separated from us and was due to arrive on the Carnatic yesterday morning. Since we arrived this morning we have both been searching for him and not being able to find him wish to deposit some money here in the hope that he will be able to find his way back home to London.

Consul:
(smiling) A true Englishman after my own heart, sir. But what happens if he doesn’t show up?

Fogg:
You may donate the money to any local charities that you feel need the money. Princess?

(The Princess opens the bag and Mr. Fogg pulls out a collection of notes)

Fogg:
By my estimates, £1,000 should be enough for him to return home.

Consul:
(coughing) £1,000!!! Sir, if he does not come to collect it, I can assure you that the residents of Yokohama will be forever in your debt. May I ask the person’s name?

Fogg:
Mr. Jean Passepartout. His home address is 7 Savile Row, Burlington Gardens, London, England.

(The Consul writes the address down)

Fogg:
If you will excuse us, sir, we are going to continue our search for my butler. Good day (and they both exit stage right)

Consul:
(looking up) And a good day to you too sir. (and continues to write the address)

(The Guide enters stage left)

Guide:
As the consul gathered the notes and attached the address to it, he was aware that he’d seen that address somewhere before. It then dawned on him that it was the same address that the suspect in the bank robbery lived.

Consul:
(realising) That was Mr. Fogg!

Guide:
The consul wrestled with himself as to what to do with the money. Then he reasoned with himself.

Consul:
Would a thief really travel all the way from London to here and leave some money for the return of his butler? No, it would never happen. If Mr. Fogg is a thief then I’m a monkey’s uncle

(The Consul gets up and takes the money with him as he exits stage right)

Guide:
On November 23rd 1872, the Consul made a £1,000 donation to a local school that taught children from the poorest district of the town. The trustees were so pleased that they said they could build a new wing for the school and wished to name it after the Consul as he was the donor. The Consul stated that he wasn’t the donor and that the wing should be called the Phileas Fogg wing in honour of the Englishman from London.

(Lights down)

Act II: Scene V: Don’t Do Politics

(Lights up revealing two chairs, a lectern and a table. The Guide enters stage left)

Guide:
Passepartout was reunited with his master and the Princess on the same day that the Grant left for San Francisco and on board the ship he explained what happened to Mr. Fogg. Also on board was Inspector Fix and Constable Williams and when they met on November 23, it was a good chance to see how British fisticuffs compare to French all in fighting.

(Sounds off stage of Inspector Fix and Passepartout fighting)

Guide:
Realising that he and his quarry would be on the same boat for at least ten days. Inspector Fix confided in Passepartout and gave a begrudging agreement that he would now help his master get to England as soon as possible in order that Mr. Fogg could prove his innocence or guilt. That’s why on December 3rd 1872, three Englishmen, a Frenchman and an Indian princess disembarked from the Grant and set foot in the New World. Mind you, the New World was about to make an impression on them as well.

(Fogg, Passepartout, the Princess, Fix and Williams enter from the back of the hall and sit down in front of the stage)

Voiceover:
You’re listening to WNBCSF and this is Debate ’72.

(As theme music plays, two people enter from either side of the stage and sit down. A third people enters from the back of the hall and turns to face the audience as the theme music ends)

Moderator:
Good afternoon, and welcome to this special debate between State Representative Kamefield and incumbent Mandiboy. Before we start this debate, an explanation of the ground rules. Each candidate will get two minutes to reply to each question with the option of a thirty second rebuttal to any point raised at the moderator’s discretion. Each of the candidates can see me quite clearly and as time winds down I shall be making a signal that they only have 30 seconds. When that time is up, I will ring this bell (which he pings) to signify that their allocated time is up. We start off with a question from Mrs. Rebecca Snider who is unfortunately not able to attend this afternoon and it is aimed at both candidates but I will address it to the incumbent first. Mr. Mandiboy, my son was recently held up at gunpoint by a couple of bandits, if it wasn’t for the handgun that he had in his holster at the time I am sure I would be mourning the loss of a son. Do you believe that the constitutional right to bear arms should be upheld no matter what?

Mandiboy:
First of all I would like to thank WNBCSF for this forum and secondly, yes, I am firmly of the opinion that the constitutional right to bear arms should be upheld at all costs. I realise that San Francisco can be a dangerous town on occasions but am sure that if the right to bear arms was abolished it would become a far more dangerous town rather than a safer one so in answer to your question Mrs. Snider I am committed to upholding the constitution.

(Applause from the audience)

Moderator:
Thank you. Kamefield, as the question was directed to you as well, you have two minutes to answer the question as well!

Kamefield:
Whilst wishing to thank you also for allowing the residents of this great city by the bay to air their views in what is a very important election for this city I feel that I must disagree with the incumbent. I can fully appreciate that this being the only real piece of civilisation before you reach the deserts that mark this country on the world means that we have a sense of “liberalism” which despite what my opponent said last week isn’t such a bad thing, the fact that anyone can walk into a gun shop and say “Hello, I’m an American citizen, I would like a twelve bore shotgun please!” does fill me with dread

(The moderator begins to signal)

Kamefield:
I therefore feel that I have to respond negatively towards the question and whilst understanding that the life of Mrs. Snider’s son was saved by the gun in his holster what was it doing there in the first place?

(The moderator pings his bell and some members of the audience boo)

Moderator:
Thank you, our next question comes from Colonel Stamp W. Proctor who is here in our audience. Colonel, if you would care to ask your question?

(Proctor stands up looking just like a cowboy)

Proctor:
Thank you sir. My question relates to something that I have a deep concern for. Whilst I may look like a cowpoke, I served in the Great War that rent this country asunder that only finished a mere seven years ago. I of course refer to the Civil War and I am proud to state that I served for the Union side (applause from the audience) and that I even served under the leadership of that illustrious man General Ulysses S. Grant who is now our President (even louder applause). One of the things that arose from that war was the Alabama Claim. I would like to know where the candidates stand on that issue?

(As soon as the Captain mentions “Alabama Claim”, Fogg, Fix and Williams shuffle uncomfortably in their seats)

Moderator:
Kamefield, if you would care to start?

Kamefield:
Thank you. Like you Colonel I too fought for the Union and served at Gettysburg and was privileged to attend the Gettysburg Address held in the November after that terrible battle. I do believe that the claim is quite valid of course. The English government gave the President Lincoln an assurance that they would remain neutral during the Civil War and what happened? Mr. Alabama built those ships, in English waters I might add, and shipped them off the Southern states who then used them to destroy the Union fleet. Pay? Of course they should!

(Applause from the audience)

Moderator:
Thank you, Mandiboy?

Mandiboy:
This is one issue where the both of us agree in principle. What the English did was completely underhanded. In fact I would go so far as to call it as underhanded as one of the schemes of Jesse James. I not only believe that the English government should have to pay the fifteen and half million pound compensation deal drawn up by the Swiss earlier this year but would extend it so that if no payment was received by the end of this year, any English citizens resident in the United States should be taken hostage until as such time the compensation was paid!

(Several members of the audience including Proctor stand up and cheer)

(As Mandiboy finishes speaking, Fogg, the Princess, Passepartout, Fix and Williams try to make their way out of the hall as quietly as possible but Proctor notices and tries to stop them leaving)

Moderator:
Could I ask that contributions from the floor are kept polite as possible?

Proctor:
This is not a contribution sir, this is a protection of this country’s liberties. (to Fogg) Well, sir? Are you in favour of this country’s claim?

(Fogg ignores him and tries to leave)

Proctor:
I ask you again sir, are you in favour?

(Passepartout comes between them)

Passepartout:
Leave my master alone, he’s done nothing to upset you!

Proctor:
(chuckling) Oh ho, so a Frenchman eh? I have no argument with you after all it was your ruler Napoleon who enabled this great state to be founded

(Applause from the audience)

Proctor:
It’s your master I have the argument with.

Moderator:
Gentlemen, please I ask you.

Proctor:

I believe that this gentleman is a nothing more than a Limey!

(Gasps from the audience)

Fix:
(coming between them) It is true that my colleague and myself are from England, but I do not see what that has to do with the current discussion.

(Proctor launches a right hook at Fix who falls to the ground)

Fogg:
(clearly annoyed) Yankee!

Proctor:
Ah ha, so the master speaks at last (glares at Fogg) Limey!

(A policeman enters from the back of the hall and drags Fogg away followed by the Princess, Passepartout and Williams who is helping Fix nurse his face)

Proctor:
We will meet again, Limey!

Fogg:
Whenever you please!

Proctor:
And your name is?

(Fogg loosens the hold of the policeman and dusts himself down)

Fogg:
Phileas Fogg! (as he and the company exit through the back of the hall with the policeman)

Moderator:
We will take a commercial break. You’re listening to Debate’72!

(Theme music plays as lights go down)

Act II: Scene VI: Showdown on the Train

(Lights up revealing a railway carriage. The Guide enters stage left)

Guide:
The United States spans a massive 3,000 miles from the west coast to the east coast and thanks to the trans continental railway; it would only take Mr. Fogg a week to cross the country. Along the way they would see several sights that were prominent in American history. For instance as they passed the Great Salt Lake in the territory known as Utah they saw Promontory Point where the western and eastern railroads linked in 1869 and it was in the city that bears the lake’s name that a visitor to the train decided to make a statement.

(The Guide exits stage right as a person dressed in black enters from the back of the hall followed by Passepartout. He sits down at the front of the stage as the person goes on stage)

Hitch:
Good morning ladies and gentlemen. My name is Elder William Hitch and I have come on board this train this morning to introduce you to the world of the Mormons, otherwise known as the Church of Jesus Christ of the Latter Days Saints based here in the glorious territory of Utah. (he coughs and then bellows) I tell you that Joe Smith is a martyr, that his brother Hiram is a martyr, and that the persecutions of the United States Government against the prophets will also make a martyr of Brigham Young.  Who dares to say the contrary?

(Passepartout scratches his head as the Guide enters stage left as Hitch continues to preach without making a sound)

Guide:
Hitch was certainly making himself known as he carried on with his lecture. Whilst it was obvious that he was annoyed with the opinion that the United States government didn’t like the Mormon religion that much especially following allegations that the Government had killed several of it’s leaders, he hoped to be able to bring some new followers from the train.

Hitch:
(bellows again) It had made itself master of Utah, and subjected that territory to the laws of the Union, after imprisoning Brigham Young on a charge of rebellion and polygamy.  The disciples of the prophet had since redoubled their efforts, and resisted, by words at least, the authority of Congress. (and then resumes preaching without making a noise)

Guide:
Despite the fire in his belly, the numbers of people interested in the lecture declined from the thirty who had attended the start of the lecture to a mere three now and of those three two were asleep.

Hitch:
(bellows again) Joseph Smith was made bankrupt in 1837 and was punished by being tarred and feathered but he reappeared in Illinois, and in 1839 founded a community at Nauvoo, on the Mississippi, numbering twenty-five thousand souls, of which he became mayor, chief justice, and general-in-chief; that he announced himself, in 1843, as a candidate for the Presidency of the United States; and that finally, being drawn into ambuscade at Carthage,

he was thrown into prison, and assassinated by a band of men disguised in masks (and resumes making no noise)

Guide:
By now only Passepartout was left in the carriage listening and when Hitch noticed this, he decided to strike while the iron was hot!

Hitch:
(looking at Passepartout) And this is why the jealousy of Congress has been aroused against us!  Why have the soldiers of the Union invaded the soil of Utah?  Why has Brigham Young, our chief, been imprisoned, in contempt of all justice?  Shall we yield to force?  Never! Driven from Vermont, driven from Illinois, driven from Ohio, driven from Missouri, driven from Utah, we shall yet find some independent territory on which to plant our tents.  And you, my brother, will you not plant yours there, too, under the shadow of our flag?

(Passepartout jumps up full of fervour)

Passepartout:
(shouting) MAIS NON! (and rushes out of the hall)

(Hitch deflated bows to the Guide and exits stage right)

Guide:
Whilst all this was going on Mr, Fogg and his travelling companions had been enjoying a pleasant morning playing whist and having had a traditional American lunch in the company of the chairman of the railroad they were travelling on carried on their game that afternoon. However, their game was about to be disturbed

(The guide exits stage right as Fogg, the Princess, Fix and Williams enter stage left and sit down by a table and start to play whist. A few moments later Proctor enters stage left and peers over Fogg’s shoulder)

Proctor:

You know, I would play a diamond myself

(The game freezes as Fogg looks over his shoulder)

Proctor:

Well, well, well, if it isn’t you Limey! Imagine you playing a spade.

Fogg:

And play a spade I will (and he lays down a card)

Proctor:
Yes, well as I said I would have played a diamond (and tries to grab Mr. Fogg’s deck) It’s clear that you don’t know anything about the game!

Fogg:
(standing up) Perhaps I do, as well as another one!

Proctor:
Just you try you son of John Bull!

Aouda:
I beg you Mr. Fogg…

(Fogg comforts Aouda as Fix stands up)

Fix:
Sir, it is I that you struck, any disagreement you have is with me!

Fogg:
Pardon me, Mr. Fix, but this affair is mine, and mine only.  The colonel has again insulted me, by insisting that I should not play a spade, and he shall give me satisfaction for it

Proctor:
You name the time, the place and the weapon and I’ll be there!

Fogg:
Sir, I am in a great hurry to return to England and any delay will be very expensive to me.

Proctor:
So?

Fogg:
After our meeting at San Francisco, I am determined to return to America and find you as soon as I had completed the business, which called me to England

Proctor:
(laughing) A likely story, Limey.

Fogg:
(taking a diary out of his pocket) I therefore request that we meet in the main street of San Francisco on June 7th 1873 at a time of your choosing.

Proctor:
(mocking) Why not June 7th 1883?

Fogg:
I say June 7th 1873 and I will be there on June 7th 1873!

Proctor:
This is all an evasion. It’s now or never!

Fogg:
Very good. Are you heading to New York?

(Proctor shakes his head)

Fogg:
Chicago?

(Proctor shakes his head)

Fogg:
Omaha?

Proctor:

What difference is it to you? Do you know Plum Creek?

Fogg:

Not by name, no

Proctor:
It’s the next station on this railroad. The train will be there in an hour and stop for ten minutes. By my reckoning I can easily get at least 100 shots off in that time.

(Aouda faints in Fix’s arms)

Fogg:
Very well, Plum Creek it is then!

Proctor:
And I suspect that you’ll stay there as well (and laughs as he heads towards the doors only to be stopped by a guard)

Guard:
Sorry, sir, I have to ask you to return to your seat

Proctor:
What for?

Guard:
We are currently twenty minutes behind schedule so therefore will not be stopping at Plum Creek

Proctor:
But this gentleman and I have agreed to duel there.

Guard:
I’m sorry sir (then has an idea) What about this carriage then? Would that be a suitable location?

Proctor:
I don’t know, I have no objections but I can’t say the same for my opponent.

Fogg:
It would be perfectly convenient for me as well.

Guard:
In that case, sirs, I offer to be your referee.

(The Guard stands in the middle of the hall as Fogg and Proctor join him. Passepartout comes down and offers them two of his guns then rejoins Fix, Williams and Aouda on the stage. Fogg and Proctor turn their backs to each other)

Guard:

Gentlemen, you will walk ten paces!

(Fogg and Proctor walk ten paces)

Guard:

(ducking) Turn then fire

(Just as Fogg and Proctor turn, the sound of a gunshot rings out followed by the sound of hollering)

Fogg:

Get down everyone!

(Everyone crouches down and Fogg crawls to the guard)

Fogg:

What’s happening?

Guard:

Those darned Sioux. They’re always attacking the trains

Proctor:

(who has crawled along to the guard as well) We’ve got guns haven’t we? I say we stop them!

Guard:

If we can’t stop this train at the next stop we’ll all lost.

Fogg:

Why? What’s so special about the next stop?

Guard:

Fort Kearney is the home of the Cavalry section of the American army.

(Passepartout runs down the stage ducking every so often)

Passepartout:
I’ll stop the train, Monsieur (and exits by the back doors)

Fogg:
And we’ll try our best to repel these boarders. Come along Colonel, we need everyone’s help, That includes you too as well Mr. Fix and Mr. Williams.

(Everyone bar Aouda positions goes to a corner of the hall and pretends to shoot. The Guide crawls in from stage left and shelters Aouda)

Guide:
The battle lasted for several minutes as Passepartout using his acrobatic skills managed to avoid the Indian’s fire. After a few moments, there was a shunt (everyone shifts slightly) and as the carriage started to slow down a new sound could be heard

(A Calvary charge sounds)

Proctor:
(stands up) The good old American Cavalry. Go get ‘em boys!

(The sounds of gunfire lessen and eventually go away. A Cavalry Captain enters from the back of the hall and is greeted by Proctor)

Proctor:

Colonel Stamp W. Proctor at your service, sir

Captain:

Captain Dennis Mason at your service as well sir. Is everyone alright?

Fogg:

(standing up) Yes, I believe so. It looks as though Passepartout did his job perfectly

Captain:
(concerned) Another person, sir? You and the rest of the train are the only people we’ve seen since the carriages rolled into Kearney station!

(Lights down)

Act II: Scene VII: Crisis of Confidence

(Lights up revealing the Reform Club. Lord Albermarle is pacing the floor. The Guide enters stage left. Lord Albermarle looks up. The Guide shakes his head sadly and Lord Albermarle continues his pacing)

Guide:
The news from America was not encouraging to anyone who has placed a wager on Mr. Fogg completing his journey. With just 12 days remaining for him to arrive back in London, supporters were few and far between and even those who were supporters were beginning to have their doubts

(As the Guide exits stage right, the other Reform Club members enter from the back of the hall in a jovial mood and head towards the stage)

Stuart:
I tell you the money’s in the bag.

Sullivan:
He’s completely stranded and there’s nothing he can do about it.

Fallentin:
I’ve heard tell that the American Midwest is experiencing the worst snowstorm since the 1780’s. So even if he manages to cross into Illinois, he won’t be able to get anywhere.

Flanagan:
Indeed, I had the foresightedness to telegraph the Union Pacific Railroad Company before I came here and they told me that they didn’t expect any services to reach them from the plains until at least January.

Ralph:
Indeed! Gentlemen, a toast!

(A servant enters stage left and pours everyone bar Lord Albermarle a drink and then exits stage right)

Ralph:
To £20,000, gentlemen!

(They chink their glasses. As they do so someone enters from the back of the hall and coughs)

Albermarle:
Yes, can I help you?

Thomas:
My name is Thomas Weston. I’m the reporter on the Daily Telegraph who came up with that route that Mr. Fogg is following and I’m looking for a Lord Albermarle.

Albermarle:
That’s me. How can I be of assistance?

Stuart:
He’s probably come to apolgise for helping you lose £5,000!

(Everyone bar Albermarle and Thomas laugh)

Thomas:
(comes onto the stage) Your Lordship, I did come to apolgise but that was before I received this cable from the offices of the American Weather Service.

Sullivan:
Let me guess, they’ve had reports that Mr. Fogg was sliding past one of their observation posts on a toboggan!

(Everyone bar Albermarle and Thomas laugh)

Thomas:
Not quite! (takes a piece of paper out of his pocket) To Thomas Weston, Daily Telegraph, London, England from Mr. Trevor Mudge, National Weather Service Correspondent for Kearney, Nebraska, United States. Sir, I am writing to you as per our agreement to track the travels of Mr. Phileas Fogg.

Fallentin:
So that’s how you’ve been keeping tabs on him eh?

Thomas:
That’s right sir. I cabled every major town on the route as soon as Mr. Fogg left on October 2nd and asked if that anyone saw him to report to me first. If I may continue?

Flanagan:
Of course!

Thomas:
At 12.00am Central Standard Time on December 9th 1872 it started to snow heavily in Kearney and when I went to record the temperature at the railway station I was very surprised to see two Englishmen and a person who one of the Englishmen told me was an Indian princess.

Ralph:
Good grief! He’s been picking up passengers!

Thomas:
The Englishman told me that there were in fact two other people with them. Sioux Indians had kidnapped a Frenchman and that the other one who was also English had gone to rescue him. When I asked their names the Englishman replied Phileas Fogg and Passepartout

Albermarle:
Didn’t I tell you he was the perfect gentleman?

Thomas:
When I went back this morning to record the snowfall I found all three people still there as they were waiting for Mr. Fogg’s return and shortly afterwards a figure appeared on the horizon on horseback with a passenger. The Indian princess leapt for joy, the two Englishmen wanted to hug me and they all dashed off to meet him. Intrigued I followed them and was introduced to Mr. Fogg and Passepartout in person. Impressed by his determination and knowing that he wished to get to Buffalo as quickly as possible, I asked if they would be interested in travelling to Buffalo by iceboat

(Everyone bar Albermarle and Thomas splutter in their drinks)

Everyone bar Albermarle and Thomas: ICEBOAT!

Thomas:
They consented and we left Kearney at 8.00am Central Standard Time and arrived in Omaha at 1.00pm Central Standard Time, which is where this telegram is being sent from, and they boarded the train to Buffalo not half an hour ago.

Albermarle:
(perking up) Mr. Weston I can’t thank you enough. You have brought cheers to my heart. Here (he takes a coin out of his pocket and gives it to Thomas)

Thomas:
A half crown! Your Lordship is too kind (and he exits stage left)

Sullivan:
Okay, I grant you that he may be heading for New York, but might I also remind you that unless he catches the China that leaves New York on December 11th, which is less than 36 hours time, he cannot complete the journey in time. I am still confident that we will all be £5,000 better off by Christmas. Cheers Gentlemen! (and they chink glasses)

(Lights down)

Act II: Scene VIII: Hijacked!

(Lights up revealing the deck of a ship. The Guide enters gingerly stage left and tries hard to keep his balance)

Guide:
Despite all Mr. Fogg’s efforts, he arrived in New York 45 minutes after the China had set sail for Europe and with it’s departure Mr. Fogg’s chances of getting back in time seemed to have evaporated as well. Not showing any signs of disappointment the company consulted the many shipping companies in New York. The French shipping company could get them to Liverpool but not until the 28th of December, The Dutch did have a ship heading towards Europe, but it’s final destination was Copenhagen in Denmark, and the Germans were more interested in Argentina than Europe. And they had little luck at the shipping companies in Manhattan either, however a chance remark by the captain of a ship offered a glimmer of hope.

(Captain Speedy enters stage right with a checklist)

Speedy:
(bellows) Come on you lot get a move on! We’ve got a delivery of wine to get to Bordeaux this side of Christmas!

(Fogg enters from the back of the hall as the Guide exits stage right)

Fogg:
Ahoy there Captain!

Speedy:
(coming to the edge of the stage) Can I help you mister?

Fogg:
I was just looking at your ship and was wondering if you could tell me how fast it goes.

Speedy:
This is the Henrietta, mister and there’s no faster ship on the Atlantic. 13 knots with a good wind!

Fogg:
Could I ask if you carry passengers as well as freight?

Speedy:
Nope, Passengers are constantly moving. I prefer nice and stable freight! Am I to presume that you are seeking passage then?

Fogg:
That’s correct sir. We are five experienced travellers and wouldn’t be in your way at all.

Speedy:
There could be a million of you as far as I am concerned. I am heading to Bordeaux and that’s my final word (he turns his back on Fogg) You could offer me $200 a head and I’d still say no!

Fogg:
$2,000!

Speedy:
(turns around slowly) Say what?

Fogg:
I am prepared to offer $2,000 per head for passage from here to Bordeaux!

Speedy:
(hums and haws) That’s $10,000 minus the amount of space that five people would take at $100 per cubic feet equals (pauses then faces Fogg) We leave in 30 minutes, mister, with or without passengers!

(Fogg exits via the back of the hall and Captain Speedy exits stage right rubbing his hands in glee as the Guide enters stage left)

Guide:
Thirty minutes after the deal had been agreed the Henrietta set sail for Bordeaux carrying several consignments of wine, three Englishmen, a Frenchman and an Indian princess. Whilst he was pleased that they were heading back to Europe, Passepartout was concerned that they would arrive in France and not Liverpool, as it was easier to get from Liverpool to London than it was to get from Bordeaux to London. When he asked his master about this, his reply came in the form of a face that scared Passepartout something awful. It was a face that suggested that beneath that Byronic face, Mr. Fogg was scheming. Was his master planning the unthinkable?

(Captain Speedy enters stage left about to take a measurement. Passepartout also enters stage left carrying a large sack. He sees Captain Speedy who doesn’t see him. Passepartout takes the sack, ponders for a moment and then throws it over Captain Speedy)

Speedy:
(from under the sack) Hey, what’s going on here? Let me out of here immediately you racketeer you!

(Passepartout leads Speedy off stage right as Fogg enters stage left and takes a measurement)

Fogg:
(shouts) Full speed ahead, Bosun!

Bosun:
(offstage) Aye, Aye, Captain Fogg!

Guide:
It certainly looked that way the following day when it was Mr. Fogg who gave the order to increase to full speed. As for Captain Speedy, he was just a little annoyed

Speedy:
(offstage) Of all the low down underhanded tricks! This is absolute mutiny. You hear me Mr. Fogg, mutiny!

Guide:
Mr. Fogg continued to steer the Henrietta like a true sailor. He managed to negotiate a hurricane off Newfoundland, but three days away from Liverpool the chief engineer came to him with bad news. The coal supply was exhausted. It was then that Mr. Fogg summoned Captain Speedy

(The Guide quickly exits stage left as Speedy stomps on from stage right and nearly decks Mr. Fogg but is restrained by Passepartout, Fix and Williams)

Speedy:

(bellowing) WHERE ARE WE?

Fogg:

(takes a measurement) About 770 miles from Liverpool, I believe

Speedy:

(bellows) LIVERPOOL? You’re a pirate!

Fogg:

(calmly) I have sent for you sir…

Speedy:

(bellows) Picaroon!

Fogg:

(ignoring Speedy) so that I may ask your permission…

Speedy:

(bellows) Poltroon!

Fogg:

(ignoring Speedy) to buy the Henrietta from you?

Speedy:

(bellows) BUY THE HENRIETTA? Never in a million years

Fogg:

You see, as the coal has run out I have no option left but to burn her

Speedy:

(fit to bursting) Burn my ship? Never! When I get loose from these people

(Speedy struggles against his captors)

Fix:

Calm down sir, we don’t want to hurt you

Speedy:

Then give me back my ship, you pirates!

Fogg:
My sentiments exactly, Captain. I am willing to pay you $60,000 for the ship. As I intend only to burn the wood and leave the hull untouched as well as the engine I believe that this total should be more than enough for you to resume your business with a new Henrietta.

(Speedy stops struggling and Fogg nods to the others to let him go)

Speedy:
(calm) $60,000 for the wood and I’d be left with the hull and engines?

Fogg:
That’s correct!

Speedy:
(slapping Mr. Fogg on the back which causes him to cough harshly) Mr. Fogg, you’ve got yourself a deal! Congratulations, you are now a formal ship owner! (and he dances off stage right)

Fogg:
Right then you three. Find an axe and break up everything burnable. We’ll make it to Liverpool yet!

(Passepartout, Fix and Williams dash off stage left and sounds of chopping can be heard)

(Lights down)

Act II: Scene IX: Imprisoned

(The Guide enters stage left)

Guide:
Mr. Fogg arrived in Liverpool at 11.40am on December 21st 1872, leaving him just over eight hours to arrive back in London. Although his arrival did provoke quite a few comments

(The Harbourmaster enters stage right clearly shocked by something and encounters a sailor who enters stage left)

Sailor:

Hello there John (notices) My word, are you all right John?

Harbourmaster:
(still shocked) It’s impossible. It simply couldn’t have happened and yet it did!

Sailor:

What happened?

Harbourmaster:
I’ve been the harbourmaster here in Liverpool since 1852, that’s 20 years of service and in all that time I have never seen this happen before. You know Captain Speedy?

Sailor:
Oh, yes, old Andrew from Cardiff. He’s not still sailing from New York is he?

Harbourmaster:
Not anymore. The Henrietta sailed into Liverpool about 30 minutes ago completely gutted.

Sailor:
(sympathising) Well, those Atlantic storms can be bad.

Harbourmaster:
No, not damaged, gutted. I mean gutted, gutted.

Sailor:
Gutted, Gutted?

Harbourmaster:
Yes, the only pieces remaining of the Henrietta was the hull and the engine and that was it!

Sailor:
Goodness, what happened then?

Harbourmaster:
Well, according to Captain Speedy he’s taken some passengers from New York, they kidnapped him and then bought the Henrietta from him for $60,000 and then burnt the wood!

(The sailor laughs)

Sailor:
Come on, I think you need a good long drink!

(The sailor and the harbourmaster exit stage left)

Guide:
However, Mr. Fogg’s margin of error was about to be cut even further. No sooner had he disembarked from the Henrietta than he was tapped on the shoulder by Mr. Fix who thrust a piece of paper in front of him. It was the arrest warrant that had he had picked up in Japan and was finally being put to the use it was designed for. With Mr. Fogg now safely locked away in the Custom House, Inspector Fix was starting to relax.

(Lights up revealing a room with a chaise longue. Fix enters stage left and flops down on it)

Fix:
At last Williams! It may have taken me eighty days of globetrotting but I’ve done it. That villain Fogg is now safely ensconced downstairs and I’m bound to get a promotion as well (he smiles) Still, it’s nice to be back home in England eh?

(Williams enters stage left carrying a newspaper)

Williams:
Indeed it is sir. I’m not sure what the wife will think of Liverpool though?

Fix:
(puzzled) The wife, Williams?

Williams:
Yes, I mean I can hardly say “Sorry, I won’t be able to spend Christmas with you in Hackney when I’m in Liverpool. How about you come up here for Christmas?”

Fix:
(getting up and gesturing Williams to sit down) Williams, Williams, Williams. We’ve been through a lot together over the last three months and although I admit when we first teamed up I thought of you as my complete and utter opposite, I now feel that we’re kindred spirits, which is why we are going to spend Christmas here in Liverpool. Now, let’s have a look at the classified section and see if there are any rooms going where we can spend a few days getting our bearings back eh?

(Williams hands a section to Fix and they both start reading)

Fix:
What’s your opinion of Edge Hill?

Williams:
Never heard of it, sir.

Fix:
Please, Williams, call me Gerald!

Williams:
And you can call me Simon, Gerald!

(They both laugh as they continue to read. Williams spots something and stands up quickly)

Williams:
Er, Gerald?

Fix:
Yes, Simon

Williams:
(reads from newspaper) Commissioner Rowan of Scotland Yard is expected to arrive in Liverpool today to complete the formalities regarding the robbery of the Bank of England on September 29th this year. He is due to arrive at the Custom House at 2.15pm.

Fix:
(not really listening) That’s nice for the Commissioner. Okay, if Edge Hill doesn’t suit you what about Walton? (snaps to) The Commissioner? Here? (looks at his watch) Now?

(Commissioner Rowan enters from the back of the hall and Fix jumps to attention)

Fix:
Sir? What are you doing here?

Rowan:
(heading towards the stage) Ah, good afternoon Inspector Fix, glad to see you’re back!

Fix:
And a good afternoon to you too sir, but what are you doing here?

Rowan:
(getting on the stage) Oh, just finishing up some paperwork regarding the culprit who robbed the Bank of England!

Fix:
But that’s impossible sir. He’s downstairs in the cells now!

Rowan:
(quietly) In the cells?

Fix:
(getting agitated) Yes, in the cells. It’s Fileas Phogg (shakes his head) I mean Phileas Fogg. Don’t you remember you told us to track him wound the rorld (shakes his head) I mean round the world and that’s exactly what we’ve done. We’ve spent the best part of three months following him.

Rowan:
Phileas Fogg? Who’s he then?

Fix:
(to the point of bursting) He’s the person who robbed the Benk of Angland (shakes his head) I mean the Bank of England!

Rowan:
So who’s this then? (he snaps his finger and a policeman enters from the back of the hall dragging someone in front of him and they both step on stage) I’d like you to meet Archibald Travers. He confessed to the crime three days ago after we had a tip off from his next-door neighbour. Now, lift up your head sir, let’s have a good look at you,

(Archibald lifts his head up. He’s almost an exact double of Fogg)

Rowan:
You see Inspector. Scotland Yard has got its man.

Fix:
But Fogg was identified by the teller as the man responsible.

Rowan:
Oh was he? (takes out the artists impression). Tell me who does this picture look like then?

Fix:
(examines the picture with his own copy) Oh dear.

Rowan:
Indeed, so what a good thing you didn’t arrest Fogg eh? (to the policeman) Take him away!

(As the policeman takes Archibald away, Fix starts to hum and haw)

Rowan:
Anyway, you’ve had an exhausting time chasing that Mr. Fogg. How about you spend a week here in Liverpool and enjoy a relaxing Christmas eh?

Fix:
(quietly) I did arrest Fogg.

Rowan:
Sorry, Fix. I didn’t quite catch that

Fix:
(louder) I did arrest Fogg (and hangs his head in shame)

Rowan:
(explodes) YOU DID WHAT? You simpleton, Fix! Scotland Yard will be the laughing stock of England, no the world if this ever gets out. So where is he then?

Fix:
In the cells, sir!

Rowan:
(shouts) IN THE CELLS! (to Williams) Constable (throws a set of keys to Williams) get Mr. Fogg out of those cells and up here on the double!

Williams:
Yes, sir! (and rushes off stage left)

(Rowan glares at Fix who takes off his cap and holds it like a shamed schoolboy. Williams enters stage left with Fogg, Passepartout and the Princess)

Rowan:
Mr. Fogg, I wish to express in the strongest possible terms my most sincere apologies. (He hands Fogg a copy of the artist’s impression) As you can see the likeness is astounding. It’s all terribly unfortunate of course and we hope that you will accept our apologies.

Fogg:
Indeed, however I would like to say something to Inspector Fix if I may?

(Fix comes forward still shame faced)

Fogg:
Inspector Fix, you have been following us since we left London eighty days ago, and now I know why. You had the audacity to think that I, an English gentleman, would rob fifty five thousand pounds from the Bank of England?

Fix:
Based on the available evidence at the time, yes, sir!

Fogg:
Then I have only one thing to say to you, sir!

(Fogg punches Fix in the stomach twice and Fix collapses on the floor and Williams rushes up to him)

Passepartout:
Parbleu, monsieur!

Rowan:
Indeed, Mr. Fogg. Ever considered a career in the boxing ring!

(Fogg, the Princess and Passepartout step down from the stage as a clock chimes the half hour. The Guide enters stage right as Fix is borne off by Williams with Rowan following)

Guide:
It took fifteen minutes to get from the Custom House to Liverpool Station and despite their best efforts there was not a train to be had. With six hours to go until the deadline things were not looking promising. Until that is a freight train whistled that it was about to leave. Although the driver initially refused Mr. Fogg passage citing that he would be sacked if he did, Mr. Fogg assured him that any sacking would be countered by his representation at tribunal so long as he got to London within the next six hours. The driver suddenly realised that he was talking to the Englishman determined to go around the world in eighty days and agreed to the request. A few minutes later the guard’s whistle sounded and the train left with just 350 minutes remaining.

(The lights go down save for a spotlight on the guide)

Guide:
As the train passed through Stoke on Trent, Passepartout expressed his concern that they didn’t seem to be going fast enough. This sentiment was echoed by Mr. Fogg but was addressed by the driver who explained that the freight was the reason for the slowness. When Mr. Fogg asked if the freight could be left behind, the driver had an idea and told Passepartout to uncouple the freight cars which he completed as the train swept through Birmingham, which left the stationmaster with a small problem

(A spotlight picks up a rather annoyed stationmaster)

Stationmaster:
Oi, what am I supposed to do with all this freight eh?

(The spotlight goes out)

Guide:
Mr. Fogg wasn’t concerned. His main priority remained getting to the Reform Club within the next 120 minutes and when the train came in sight of Big Ben which showed 8.30pm there was hope. With 15 minutes to go they were just 5 miles from Charing Cross. Ten minutes to go saw them just 3 miles away and with just five minutes to go, the stationmaster at Charing Cross changed the keys to allow the train access to the station. The train rammed into the buffers at the end of the line and everyone dashed out into the cold night air, but as they did a sound rang across London that signalled…

(The spotlight goes out and appears at the end of the hall as the doors burst open just as Big Ben chimes the quarter hour)

Fogg:

The end! 8.45pm on December 21st 1872. We’ve lost!

(As the lights darken they trudge slowly towards the stage and exit stage right)

Act II: Scene X: Ruined (or are we?)

(A spotlight picks up the guide on the edge of the stage)

Guide:
Number 7 Savile Row had been empty since October 2nd 1872 and even though it was only three days from Christmas, the local orphanage knew that Mr. Fogg was a regular supporter. So as the sun began to set on December 22nd 1872, a small group of carol singers arrived in Savile Row and began to sing.

(The spotlight goes out as a drummer enters from the back of the hall followed by a group of carol singers singing “The Little Drummer Boy” who make their way to the edge of the stage. As they sing the lights go up to reveal Mr. Fogg’s drawing room and as the song ends Passepartout enters stage left. He gives the carol singers some chocolate coins and then stands on the edge of the stage as they exit through the hall still singing. As they leave he wipes a tear from his eye, takes his bag and follows them but is stopped by a bell. He goes back onto the stage and exits stage right)

Guide:
Mr. Fogg was now officially bankrupt. Of the £40,000 fortune he had in savings in October, there was now only a mere £10 left. The £20,000 wager would have been cashed earlier in the day and he spent £19,990 on the various travelling methods to journey the world in 80 days. And being bankrupt meant that everything he knew was going to have to go. He would have to let Passepartout go, he would have to sell 7 Savile Row and more importantly he would have to fulfil his promise to the Princess and provide her with money to travel to the Netherlands.

(The Guide exits stage left as the Princess enters stage right followed by Fogg who sits down looking gloomy)

Fogg:
(standing up) Madam, will you pardon me for bringing you to England?

Aouda:
I, Mr. Fogg?

Fogg:
Please let me finish.  When I decided to bring you far away from the country which was so unsafe for you, I was rich, and counted on putting a portion of my fortune at your disposal; then your existence would have been free and happy. But now I am ruined

Aouda:
I know it, Mr. Fogg, and I ask you in my turn, will you forgive me for having followed you, and--who knows?--for having perhaps, delayed you, and thus contributed to your ruin?

Fogg:
(insistent) Madam, you could not remain in India, and your safety could only be assured by bringing you to such a distance that your persecutors could not take you

Aouda:
(turning her back on him) So, Mr. Fogg not content with rescuing me from a terrible death, you thought yourself bound to secure my comfort in a foreign land?

Fogg:
Yes, madam; but circumstances have been against me. Still, I beg to place the little I have left at your service.

Aouda:
(turning back to Fogg) But what will become of you, Mr. Fogg?

Fogg:
(sitting back down again) As for me, madam, I have need of nothing.

Aouda:
(sitting down next to him) But how do you look upon the fate, sir, which awaits you?

Fogg:
As I am in the habit of doing

Aouda:
At least want should not overtake a man like you. Your friends…

Fogg:
(thinks for a moment) I have no friends, madam

Aouda:
Your relatives…

Fogg:
(wipes a tear from his eye) I have no longer any relatives

Aouda:
(stands up and towers over Fogg) I pity you, then, Mr. Fogg, for solitude is a sad thing,

with no heart to which to confide your griefs.  They say, though, that misery itself, shared by two sympathetic souls, may be borne with patience

Fogg:

They say so, madam!

Aouda:
(kneels by Fogg) Mr. Fogg, do you wish at once a kinswoman and friend?  (grasps his hand) Will you have me for your wife?

Fogg:
(ponders for a moment and then shouts) I love you! (He twirls Aouda around) Yes, by all that is holiest, I love you, and I am entirely yours! (He finds a nearby bell and rings it and Passepartout dashes in from stage left). Inform the Reverend Samuel Wilson that Mr. Phileas Fogg intends to marry the Princess Aouda tomorrow that is on Monday December 23rd 1872 in Marylebone Church at a time of his convenience!

(Passepartout smiles, shakes the Princess’s hand and then dashes down the stage and out of the hall as he does Fogg exits stage right and re enters carrying a small box)

Fogg:
Aouda, my dear. As I am sure you know I am an Englishman of my word, but at the same time I am also a traditionalist. The idea of a woman proposing first is a little beyond the par so would you allow me to do the same

(Aouda sits down and Fogg gets on bended knee)

Fogg:
I don't want a lot for Christmas. There is just one thing I need. I don't care about the presents underneath the Christmas tree. I just want it for my own. More than you could ever know. Make my wish come true. All I want for Christmas is...you! (and he opens the box and presents Aouda with a ring with a diamond on it. He then sings “All I want for Christmas is you” by Mariah Carey)

Aouda:
And you shall have me for Christmas! (they both hug) Has Passepartout not returned from Reverend Wilson yet?

Fogg:
I suspect that the Reverend is probably out calling on his parish, he might not be back for some time (turns towards the wings, looks and then consults his pocket watch). You know, there’s something very odd about today.

Aouda:
Apart from the fact that you decided to become a husband you mean?

(They both laugh)

Fogg:
Well, there is that, yes, but it’s more than that. During our trip I asked Passepartout to set his watch on an hour every time we crossed 15 degrees of longitude, however at no point did he. He said that his watch was accurate and that it didn’t need adjusting so as a result his watch remained showing the time in London. I myself of course followed this instruction.

Aouda:
I presume therefore that the sun didn’t agree with Passepartout?

Fogg:
(giggles) On many occasions. But here’s the odd thing. Before he went to fetch the Reverend, Passepartout set the main clock in the hall by his watch. So why it is then that it says the same time as my watch, which I adjusted every time we crossed a meridian.

Aouda:
How very strange I must say!

Fogg:
And there was the odd occurrence of the post arriving this morning! I mean a Sunday delivery, heavens above! Let me think though, there must be some reason why this is happening. Well, we’ve travelled the world, which is a circle, and a circle has 360 degrees in it. Now if you divide 360 by 15 you end up with twenty-four. And as we know there are 24 hours in a day, so that must mean that my watch and Passepartout’s watch are 24 hours apart which explains why they show the same time, but doesn’t explain the post.

(Passepartout bursts through the doors at the back of the hall and stands at the foot of the stage panting)

Fogg:
I say, I hope that you have a reason for this most undiplomatic entrance!

Passepartout:
(puffing and panting) Marriage…Impossible…Tomorrow!

Fogg:
Whatever for?

Passepartout:
(puffing and panting) Tomorrow…Sunday.

Fogg:
No, my dear fellow. Tomorrow is Monday.

Passepartout:
(starting to recover) Tomorrow is Sunday.

Fogg:
(gradually realising) If tomorrow is Sunday and our watches are 24 hours apart then that means (realises) today is December 21st (looks at watch) and we’ve only got 10 minutes to get to the Reform Club. Come on Princess, hurry!

(Fogg, Passepartout and Aouda run out of the hall as the lights darken)

Act II: Scene XI: Good evening, Gentlemen

(Lights up revealing the interior of the Reform Club. The Guide enters stage left and stands behind a lectern)

Guide:

Ladies and gentlemen, pray silence for the members of the Reform Club

(As the Guide introduces them, they each enter from the back of the hall)

Guide:
Lord Albermarle of Swindon, Andrew Stuart, John Sullivan, Samuel Fallentin, Thomas Flanagan, Gauthier Ralph and their guest for the evening Mr. Thomas Weston

(The members of the Reform Club step on stage and sit down. The Guide turns to them and bows)

Guide:
If it pleases the Club, may I remind members of the rules of the wager?

Albermarle:
Please do!

Guide:
Thank you your Lordship. For the wager to be won by Mr. Fogg, he must enter this room by 8.45pm and not a second later. If he fails by even a second the twenty thousand pounds that was deposited in his name at Baring's Bank will belong to you, in fact and in right!

Sullivan:
Why bother with the formalities eh? We know that Fogg’s still stuck in New York anyway!

Albermarle:
Mr. Sullivan, you wagered with Mr. Fogg and I expect to see you stick to the rules!

Stuart:
(getting up and peering off stage) I say, have you seen the crowd out there.

Thomas:
I know, by our reckoning every single reader of our paper has bet on Mr. Fogg.

Fallentin:
What a shame they’re going to lose every last pound then (laughs)

Thomas:
You take that back Mr. Fallentin. Fogg’s going to do it. You mark my words!

Ralph:
Now, now gentlemen. We really must Mr. Fogg the benefit of the doubt. He’s still got 180 seconds you know!

Flangan:
I don’t see how! Even if he managed to get to Liverpool, which I don’t believe for a minute, he’d have to catch the train to London and that arrived about an hour and twenty minutes ago and no sign of Fogg on it at all. Gentlemen, I think it’s safe to say that in the next two minutes we’ll be able to buy some more shares and might I interest you gentlemen in my company (snaps his fingers and a servant enters stage left carrying drinks) This is my latest brew, I call it Fogg’s Ruin. (The servant gives each of the members bar Thomas a glass) Bottom’s up, Gentlemen

(Thomas growls under his breath as the members drink. Lord Albermarle puts his glass to one side. As he does so the Guide coughs politely)

Guide:

Gentlemen, at my mark, Mr. Fogg will have precisely 60 seconds to arrive (pause) MARK!

(As the Guide says “Mark” the stage goes dark bar a spotlight that goes up the central aisle as if counting down the time and the BBC News 24 countdown music is heard at the same time. As the music finishes, another spotlight picks up Mr. Fogg at the end of the hall who takes off his hat)

Fogg:

(as the music ends) Good evening, gentlemen!

(Lord Albermarle and Thomas dance for joy and as the other Reform Club members look rather glum, Mr. Fogg makes his way towards the stage)

Guide:

Announcing the arrival of Mr. Phileas Fogg having travelled around the world in eighty days!

Fogg:

(as he passes the guide) Seventy nine days actually!

Albermarle:
Seventy Nine?

Fogg:
Yes, I arrived yesterday evening and felt that after travelling such a distance I ought to have a bit of a spruce up. I hope you don’t mind?

Sullivan:
All right Fogg.  Don’t rub it in! (He takes £4,000 in notes from his jacket and hands it to Mr. Fogg).

Fogg:
My manservant will be here in a moment to attend to that

(Passepartout enters through the back of the hall)

Passepartout:
Monsieur, your guest wishes permission to enter!

Fogg:
Ah, yes. Gentlemen, whilst I was travelling I picked up a few other travelling companions however one of them has accompanied me to the end of my journey and would like to be formally introduced.

Albermarle:
I don’t see why not.

(Fogg takes a piece of paper from his jacket and hands it to the Guide who coughs harshly)

Guide:
Mr. Fogg, you do realise that this guest will cause a riot.

Fogg:
Are we not a liberal institution? (and he winks)

Guide:
Yes, but even so (thinks) Gentlemen, I would like to propose a toast. (A servant refills the member’s glasses) To the safe return of Mr. Fogg (they drink) and the arrival of his guest.

(Passepartout opens the doors to the hall and Aouda enters causing everyone bar Albermarle and Thomas and Fogg to splutter in their drinks)

Everyone bar Fogg and the Guide:
A WOMAN!

Guide:
Presenting the Princess Aouda.

Fogg:
And my intended!

Everyone bar Fogg, Passepartout, Aouda and the Guide:
YOUR INTENDED!

Fogg:
That’s right!

Albermarle:
(chuckling) So the confirmed bachelor is to be made an honest man, eh?

(Passepartout brings Aouda on stage and Albermarle bows)

Albermarle:
May I be the first to offer my congratulations.

(The lights darken as everyone exits stage right and a spotlight picks up the Guide who steps down from the stage)

Guide:
And thus concludes our trip around the world with Phileas Fogg. May I on behalf of our company thank you for accompanying us.

(A child dashes from the back of the hall and pulls on the guide’s jacket)

Child:
Please sir, I want to know what happened to them afterwards? Did they get famous?

(The Guide takes the child by the hand)

Guide:
As it’s you, eh?

(He leads him to the back of the hall and the spotlight goes out)

Curtain Call : Auld Lang Syne

(The Guide enters from the back of the Hall and makes his way to the stage)

Guide:
Mr. Fogg was married at 11.30am on December 23rd 1872 with the Reverend Wilson attending, but instead of the service being held at Marylebone Church as had been planned it was held at Westminster Abbey and as the doors opened out stepped the newly married Mr. Phileas Fogg and Mrs. Aouda Fogg. As they left the church, several policemen were on duty keeping the crowds in check. One of them looked very familiar indeed. It was Inspector Fix or to call him by his proper title now Constable Fix along with his associate Constable Williams. Also in attendance was Commissioner Rowan and following a chat with Mr. Fogg, was pleased to give Inspector Fix his old job back and Mr. Fogg gave him a £500 cheque to show that there were no hard feelings.

(The Guide steps on stage)

Guide:
Between Christmas and New Year’s Eve, Sir Fogg was made the parliamentary candidate for the Liberals in the Marylebone constituency and made a knight following an audience with Her Majesty. His wife was appointed as the official opener of the Harrod’s department store sale and even Monsieur Passepartout was granted an audience with the French President who bestowed upon him France’s highest honour. And so as 1872 drew to a close, the newly knighted Sir Phileas Fogg (who enters stage left), his wife the Lady Aouda Fogg (who enters stage right) and the man without whom none of it would have been possible Monsieur Jean Passepartout (enters from stage left) held a party to see in 1873 with all of their friends.

(Fogg, Aouda and Passepartout bow. As they do, Auld Lang Syne starts up)

Fogg:
(to Aouda) Should auld aquaintance be forgot and never brought to mind, should auld acquainatance be forgot for the sake of Auld Lang Syne?

Aouda:
(to Fogg) Should auld aquaintance be forgot and never brought to mind, should auld acquainatance be forgot for the sake of Auld Lang Syne?

Both:
(to each other) For Auld Lang Syne, my dear. For Auld Lang Syne! We’ll take a cup of kindness yet for the sake of Auld Lang Syne!

Passepartout:
Should auld aquaintance be forgot and never brought to mind, should auld acquainatance be forgot for the sake of Auld Lang Syne? (to Aouda and Fogg) For Auld Lang Syne, my dears. For Auld Lang Syne! We’ll take a cup of kindness yet for the sake of Auld Lang Syne!

(The back of the hall opens)

Albermarle:
(entering) And here’s a cup my trusted friend

Fix and Williams:
(entering) And gie’s a hand of thine

Stuart, Sullivan, Fallentin, Flanagan, Ralph and Thomas: (entering) We’ll take a cup of kindness yet for the sake of Auld Lang Syne!

Rowan:
(entering) For Auld Lang Syne, my lord! For Auld Lang Syne!

Everyone:
We’ll take a cup of kindness yet for the sake of Auld Lang Syne!

Fogg and Auoda:
We’ll take a cup of kindness yet for the sake of Auld Lang Syne!

(Everyone gets on the stage)

Fogg:
My friends. May I say how pleased I am to see you all! My only sadness is that all of the people I met on my journey around the world couldn’t be here.

(The Guide sidles up)

Guide:
(confidentially) Oh, I wouldn’t say never!

(The doors to the back of the hall open again as “Around the World” plays)

Policeman:
Fogg, He’s the one who made the bet, and I know he'll be exactly right on time. Fogg is his name and he likes to play with his life in many ways that's what they say!

Consul:
There he is.  He’s Passepartout. He’ll serve Fogg for all time.

Cromarty:
It's her turn, the gentle touch. She’s Aouda, they love her so much!

Guard:
Hey, now the story must go on 'cos a lot of time has gone; they must be ready to go away!

High Priestess, Japanese Consul, Moderator, Mandiboy, Kamefield, Colonel Proctor, William Hitch, Captain Dennis Mason and Captain Speedy:


Eighty days around the world, We'll find a pot of gold just sitting where the rainbows end in time. We'll fight against the tide and we'll fly on the white wings of the wind. Eighty days around the world, though we won't say a word before the ship has fully docked. Round, round, all around the world, round, all around the world, round, all around the world, round, all around the world.

Reform Club Servant:
 Look, there's a lion over there!

Newspaper Boy:
Let's forget about our fears, they must be brave now. 

Bookmaker: 
You, Passepartout, you have to save Aouda's life as soon as daylight will allow.

Consul's Servant: 
She will bring you all the luck, you'll find around the world.

Hong Kong Sailor: 
Aouda, now that you're with them, you'll be the angel of the team.

American Railway Guard: Hey, now the story must go on 'cos a lot of time has gone; they must be ready to go away!

Boatswain, Liverpool Sailor, Liverpool Harbourmaster, Liverpool Policeman, Birmingham Stationmaster and Child:

Eighty days around the world, We'll find a pot of gold just sitting where the rainbows end in time. We'll fight against the tide and we'll fly on the white wings of the wind. Eighty days around the world, though we won't say a word before the ship has fully docked. Round, round, all around the world, round, all around the world, round, all around the world, round, all around the world.

(The cast all step on stage and sing the chorus again, bow and the lights darken as the cast exit)

